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About May & Baker Nigeria Plc.

ay & Baker Nigeria Plc is a leading Mpharmaceutical manufacturer founded on 

September 4, 1944, the first to be 

established in Nigeria. The company which started as a 

trading outpost to serve the West Coast of Africa began 

local manufacturing of pharmaceuticals in 1976 and 

became a publicly quoted company following its listing 

by introduction on the Nigerian Stock Exchange on 

November 10, 1994 where it has won the coveted 

award of Sectoral Leadership of the Healthcare sector 

six times.

When the foreign partners decided to divest in 2002, 

May & Baker Nigeria Plc became a wholly Nigerian 

company but retaining technical partnership with 

leading pharmaceutical manufacturers worldwide. 

These relationships gave her room to explore new 

investments and product development opportunities 

including the research, formulation and development 

of new products.

The company thereby began an aggressive expansion 

and diversification program which started with the 

introduction of Lily Table water in 2002. The company 

also invested in setting up an Anti-Retroviral (ARV) 

plant to produce drugs for HIV/AIDS. The plant began 

production in 2006 and is the first local manufacturing 

facility for ARV drugs. May & Baker has many 

registered ARV brands a couple of which have been 

presented and undergoing pre-qualification by the 

World Health Organization (WHO).

In June, 2011 May & Baker commissioned its WHO 

standard pharmaceutical production facility which was 

certified by the WHO for good manufacturing practice 

in 2014 (cGMP) and is currently undergoing re-

certification, while specific products from the plant are 

being presented for WHO pre-qualification. 

In 2005 May & Baker began the process of establishing 

West and Central Africa's first private multiple 

vaccines production company by going into a 

partnership with the Federal Government of Nigeria 

with May & Baker holding fifty-one percent stake. The 

vaccines joint venture company – Biovaccines Nigeria 

limited is geared towards making Nigeria self-

sufficient in the making of basic human vaccines 

contained in the National Immunization Program while 

also aiming to earn foreign exchange through the export 

of its products to other African Countries. 

Our Tradition

As Nigeria's first pharmaceutical company May & 

Baker has for over seven decades, remained a key player 

in the nation's healthcare industry. Generations of 

Nigerians have come to rely on the company for health 

support. The company's reputation for quality is 

legendary. This has been crucial in cementing 

partnerships with her long standing customers as well as 

winning new ones. Every May & Baker product picked 

off from the shelf has a guarantee and stamp of quality 

that has been the hallmark of the company in Nigeria.

This is because May & Baker has a rigorous quality 

assurance procedure that starts with ensuring that the 

right quality raw materials from suppliers are received, 

to continuous checking, testing and re-testing at each 

stage of manufacturing, employing the highest standard 

of current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) 

procedures. May & Baker's quality policy is in 

compliance and conformity with ISO Quality 

management System standards and has been awarded 

the NIS ISO 9001:2015 by the Standards Organisation 

of Nigeria.

Records and Hall of Fame

Over the years, May & Baker has continued to improve 

its year-end financial performance. It is one of the top 

performing stocks on the Nigerian Stock Exchange and 

is considered an investors delight. 

The factors that encouraged investors in May & Baker's 

stocks include very strong fundamentals of the 

Company such as consistency in profit making, 

attractive projections for growth and good corporate 

brand name.  There are also reasons of sound corporate 

governance practices and trusted management.

The company joined the Nigerian Stock Exchange in 

1994 and in 1996, it was awarded the prestigious 

Nigerian Stock Exchange Annual president's Merit 

Award in the Healthcare/Chemicals and Paints category 

and in 1997, carted home the same prize in the 

Healthcare/Pharmaceuticals category.  It has since then, 

won the award several times.



About May & Baker Nigeria Plc.(contd.)

May & Baker introduced the Professional Service Award in Pharmacy in 2005, to reward hard work and excellence in 

the practice of the pharmacy in Nigeria. The award remains the first of its type in the pharmacy practice in Nigeria. 

In 2007, May & Baker won the Lagos State Excellence Award for Occupational Health and Safety and the Federal 

Ministry of Health/National Council on Health Special Recognition and Excellence Award for contributions to 

Pharmaceutical Industry in Nigeria.  In Organization for Standardization (ISO) Quality Management Certificate, in 

recognition of the conformity of her management system to best international standards.  This was further upgraded in 

2017 to NIS ISO 9001-2015.  The company has won several other awards including the PMG-MAN awards for the 

attainment of top 100 most respected companies in Nigeria.  In 2018, May & Baker also won the highly coveted 

National Productivity Order of Merit award.

In 2017, the company adopted a new vision statement “To be a Leading Healthcare Brand in Sub-Sahara Africa”.  This 

vision is premised on a very ambitious but ordered quantum leap which removes all forms of restriction on growth and 

investments.  It is a vision that allows the company to invest in all areas of human life that promotes its mission “To 

Improve the Quality of Life, Throughout Life, For all Lives”.  With this, May & Baker can explore investment 

opportunities in various aspects of the healthcare space of the economy.

Other notable awards won by the company include:_

· Business Day/Nigeria Investors Value Award

- Most profitable company – Healthcare Sector – 2021

· Lagos State Government  - Ministry of Environmental and Water Recourses

-  Lagos Green Award - 2022

· Lagos State Medicine Dealers Award

-  Product Efficiency Award - 2023

· Nigerian Association of Patent and Proprietary Medicine 

- Dealers Outstanding Product quality Award - 2023

· African Brands CEOS' Award

- Pharmaceutical Brand CEO of the Year - 2023

· 

 Currently, the company is seeking expansion both in products and in markets of  Sub Saharan Africa by way of strategic 

alliances.



Corporate Profile

May & Baker consciously and voluntarily makes the commitment to contribute to a better society and a 
cleaner environment. This requires that the Company integrates social and environmental concerns into its 
business operations.

The Management acts with integrity in all of its business dealings and pays due regard to the legitimate 
interests of all the Company's stakeholders. Our technical expertise and employee dedication are catalysts 
for our leadership, and Ethical conduct is the foundation of our business principles and Company culture.

The Company also endeavours to meet the expectation of Clients, the Public and Shareholders, 
Stakeholders and Regulatory Institutions. May & Baker Nigeria Plc has, over time consistently, delivered 
on client's needs to the highest quality standards. The commitment to comprehensive Corporate 
Governance and Social Responsibility will continue to facilitate the achievement of that purpose. It is the 
Company's intention to remain a leader in the industry.

Our innovative progress is reflected in the development of the subsidiaries, contract manufacture 
arrangements with other companies and organisations, forward looking values, growth and expansion into 
a group of interdependent companies, working both together and in parallel to deliver excellence. Our 
shared values give us the necessary foundation for future evolution and brand integration across all 
companies within the May & Baker Group. The Company achieved a World Health Organisation (WHO) 
Certification in year 2015 and is currently undergoing the processes for recertification. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

MAY & BAKER maintained a very excellent robust and versatile Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
culture throughout the year.  We are mindful of, and feel a sense of responsibility towards our staff, as well 
as the society and environment in Nigeria. We continually take into account the sustainable impact of our 
actions and actively seek out opportunities to add value to the environment in which we operate. At May & 
Baker, CSR is a corporate attitude engrained in every aspect of business. Our interventions to make a 
difference were particularly visible in areas of education and health.

Details of donations made during the year can be found in Note 14 on page 21.

Our CSR efforts also include the training of workers and building of capacity of local suppliers, 
distributors and cultivating lifetime skill and knowledge. Additionally, we endeavour to create more 
environmentally friendly and safe workplaces.
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Results at a Glance

MAY & BAKER NIGERIA PLC
STRESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31  DECEMBER, 2023

The Directors of May & Baker Nigeria Plc. have the pleasure of announcing the group trading results for the year 
ended 31st December 2023 with comparative figures for the previous year as follows:
 
                                                                                            Group                       Group                       %
                                                                                      2023                          2022                      Change 

                                     ₦000                        ₦000                        

Revenue 19,695,464 14,328,266 0.37 

Profit before tax 1,519,536 2,084,252 -0.27 

Taxation (436,517) (593,642) -0.26 

Profit after tax (Continuing Operations) 1,083,019 1,490,610 -0.27 

Profit after tax is (discontinued Operations)     -          -                - 

Other comprehensive Income:    

Gain on revaluation of the asset(Net Asset)      __ ____          _     -____ ____-__ 

Total Comprehensive Income 1,083,019 1,490,610 -0.27 

    

Retained earnings 4,506,915 3,941,466 0.14 
 

Total earnings per share (EPS) (kobo):    

EPS discontinued Operations - -  

EPS Continued Operations  62.78 86.40 -0.27 

Net Assets per share (kobo) 509 477 0.067 

Stock Exchange price as of 31 December 5.50 4.02 0.37 

Authorized share capital 862,617 862,617 - 

Issued share capital 862,617 862,617 - 

Number of employees 364 352 0.03 

    

The Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards IFRS 

 
 



Chairman’s Statement

Valued fellow Shareholders, 
Distinguished members of the Board,
Ladies and Gentlemen,

rd
It is my pleasure once again to welcome you to the 73  
annual general meeting (AGM) of our great company 
and I am pleased once more to lay before you the 

stAnnual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31  
December 2023.

We thank God for His mercies and for keeping us all 
through the year till today to gather again publicly as 
shareholders of our great company.

The Operating Environment 
The year under review was a tough and difficult one for 
businesses in the country and not much brighter for the 
global economy at large.  There was significantly 
higher inflation rates in major global economies.  USD 
interest rates went higher, thus exerting upward 
pressure on interest rates globally.  Economic growth 
rate was slower than normal across most economies 
except China where growth was also moderated by 
property slump.  Geopolitical tensions continued 
across regions – Russia/Ukraine and Israel/Palestine, 
while Crude oil prices remained fairly high.  There was 
a looming threat of the planned alternative 
international trade currency by the BRICS Nations. 

On the home front real GDP growth (%) dropped from 
3.10% in 2022 to 2.45% in 2023 with GDP per capital 
($) moving from $2,187 to $1,679.  Inflation at year 
end moved from 18.8% in 2022 to 23.7% in 2023.  
Gross external reserves ($bn) dropped from $37.1bn to 
$32.9bn.  Also during the year businesses were hit by 
cash crunch from Naira redesign; fuel subsidy removal; 
and exchange rate depreciation by the floatation of the 
Naira. All these were reforms by the government which 
were strong headwinds for businesses and consumers 
alike.  

The “Japa” syndrome (migration of skilled workers to 
greener pasture abroad) continued unabated and during 
the year even corporates also joined the bandwagon 
exiting the country.  A good number of multinationals 
announced their decision to close their operations in 
Nigeria due to huge losses arising from foreign 
exchange exposures.   At least three major 
pharmaceutical companies closed business operations 
in Nigeria while many small local players also closed 
shop. Four major pharmaceutical firms suffered a total 
foreign exchange loss of ₦8bn in 2023 and our 

company was not exempted.

The total loss by corporates due to foreign exchange 
losses runs into trillions, looking across all industries, 
with some even recording erosion of shareholders' funds.  
Coupled with this is the impact of fuel subsidy removal, 
power costs for factory operations have increased by over 
500% across industries on account of higher diesel and 
gas prices.

Our result
In the midst of all these and in spite of the tough 
challenges facing businesses, I am happy to announce to 
you that our company kept its head above the waters and 
still turned in a fairly good performance.  Our group 
revenue grew by 37% from ₦14.3bn in 2022 to N19.7bn 
in 2023. Gross profit grew by 70% from ₦3.9bn in 2022 to 
₦6.8bn in 2023.  Other operating income dropped 
significantly from ₦1.6bn in 2022 to ₦62.2m in 2023, 
you will recall that 2022 was boosted by gains of ₦1.2bn 
made from sale of asset.

Distribution, selling and marketing expenses grew by 
19% from ₦2.1bn in 2022 to ₦2.6m in 2023 to drive 
revenue.  Administrative expenses grew by a whopping 
119% from ₦1.2bn in 2022 to ₦2.7bn in 2023, it's 
important to note that N1.1bn out of this is coming from 
foreign exchange losses due to the depreciation in the 
value of the Naira versus the dollar. Financial cost was flat 
year on year moving from ₦286m in 2022 to ₦290m in 



Chairman’s Statement(contd.)

2023 while finance income grew by 66% from ₦231m 
in 2022 to ₦384m in 2023.  It is heartwarming to note 
that Biovaccines Nigeria Limited – our joint venture 
business with the Federal Government of Nigeria 
contributed₦57m as our share of their profit – they 
started commercial operations in 2023 and made a 
marginal profit , largely from tax credit recoupable 
from past losses. 

The group achieved a profit before tax (PBT) of 
₦1.5bn, down by 27% from the previous year figure 
of ₦2.1bn in 2022; this drop in profit is majorly 
coming from the impact of the foreign exchange loss 
incurred in the year.  Tax for the year dropped by 27% 
to ₦436.5m in 2023 from ₦593.6m in 2022.  This 
brought our net profit after tax to ₦1.1bn, down 27% 
from ₦1.5bn in 2022 while earnings per share 
recorded the same drop of 27% from 86kobo/share in 
2022 to 63 kobo/share in 2023.

Dividends
It is my pleasure to inform you that in view of the 
relatively strong performance of our company, the 
directors have recommended a dividend of 30 kobo 
for every 50 kobo share held in the company 
r e p r e s e n t i n g  a  t o t a l  d i v i d e n d  p a y o u t  o f 
₦517,570,465.80K subject to the applicable tax.  This 
will apply to every shareholder whose name appears 
in the register of members as at the close of business 

ston 21  May 2024.

Biovaccines Nigeria Limited
As noted above, our Joint Venture business with the 
Federal Government of Nigeria commenced 
commercial operations during the year with the 
importation of a small quantity of vaccines order from 
the National Primary Healthcare Development 
Agency.  We hope this will continue until the 
construction of its own local manufacturing facility 
and subsequent local production of required vaccines.

Osworth Nigeria Limited
Our operating Subsidiary – Osworth Nigeria Limited 
delivered a revenue of ₦1.4bn, a 62% growth over its 
revenue of 892m in 2022.  It also contributed a profit 
after tax of ₦159m, a 287% growth over 2022 figure 
of ₦40m.

Future Outlook
Distinguished shareholders, you will be pleased to 
know that the company continues to invest more in 
expanding its production capacity in the Pharma 
Centre at Ota.  Also, our water business – Lily table 

water is now fully produced at our remodeled water 
bottling plant in our Ota factory which used to be the old 
foods plant for our noodles business which we divested 
from in 2018.

Our company will mark its 80 years anniversary of 
existence in Nigeria by September this year.  It is boldly 
marching on as it continues in its tradition of delivering 
quality medicines to the Nigerian populace and beyond 
with the launch and introduction of seven new products 
into the market this year.

Indeed the short and mid-term future looks very bright 
despite the harsh economic environment and we shall 
continue to support and encourage the management to 
lead the company to greater heights and to take its rightful 
position in our market and region.

Finally, I wish to use this opportunity to thank the staff and 
management for their continued dedication and 
contributions to the growth of our great company.

I equally thank our Board of Directors and all shareholders 
for your support.

God bless May & Baker Nigeria Plc and God bless 
Nigeria.

Senator Daisy Danjuma
Chairman, Board of Directors



Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the seventy-third Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at the 
thMuson Centre, Onikan, Lagos on Thursday, 6  June, 2024 at 11.00 a.m. for the following purposes:-

ORDINARY BUSINESS

st1.	 To lay before the meeting the financial statements for the year ended 31  December, 2023 and the reports of 
the Directors, Auditors and the Audit Committee thereon.

2.	 To disclose the remuneration of Managers.

3.	 To declare a dividend.

4.	 To elect and re-elect Directors.
Special notice has been received by the Company that it is intended at the meeting to propose the following 
resolution as an ordinary resolution namely:

	 	
“That Senator D. Danjuma be re-elected a Director of the Company pursuant to Section 282 of the 
Companies and Allied Matters Act, 2020 notwithstanding that she attained the age of seventy (70) 

thyears on 6  August, 2022.”

5.	 To appoint External Auditors and authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
	  Special notice is hereby given in accordance with Section 411(a) of the Companies and Allied Matters Act 

Cap C20 Laws of the Federation of Nigeria 2004 (CAMA) that it is intended at the meeting to propose the 
following resolution: 
	 	 “That Messrs. Grant Thorton Nigeria be and are hereby appointed as External Auditors of 

the Company.” 

6.	 To elect members of the Audit Committee.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

1.	 To consider and if thought fit to pass the following resolution which will be proposed as an ordinary 
resolution:

	 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

st
	 “That the remuneration of the Directors of the Company for the year ending 31  December, 2024 in 

the sum of N1,250,000 for each Non-Executive Director, save the Chairman whose remuneration 
shall be N1,500,000, be approved”.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Adetoun O. Abiru (Mrs.)
FRC/2013/PRO/ICSAN/002/00000003280
for: MARINA NOMINEES LIMITED
SECRETARIES
LAGOS

th
28  March, 2024



Notice of Annual General Meeting(contd.)

ELECTRONIC INFORMATION

Relevant documents in connection with the Meeting are available to all shareholders on the Company's 
website, www.may-baker.com

PROXY

Every member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to 
attend and vote in their stead. A proxy form is provided with this Annual Report and Financial Statements 
(AR & FS). To be valid for the purpose of the Meeting, the form must be completed and deposited at the 
office of the Registrars, Veritas Registrars Limited, Plot 89 Ajose Adeogun Street, Victoria Island 
Extension, Lagos not later than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting.  Copies can be 
downloaded from either  or . Shareholders www.may-baker.com www.veritasregistrars.com
c a n  a l s o  s e n d  s o f t  c o p i e s  o f  t h e i r  d u l y  e x e c u t e d  p r o x y  f o r m  v i a  e m a i l  t o 
veritasregistrars@veritasregistrar.com.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
 
Each duly completed proxy form shall be counted as one and every member, present in person or by proxy 
shall have one vote. A proxy remains valid provided that no information in writing of death, insanity, 
revocation or transfer shall have been received by the Company at the registered office or office of the 
registrars before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the proxy is used. Any 
objection to a proxy shall be made in due time and shall be referred to the Chairman of the meeting whose 
decisions shall be final and conclusive.

E-DIVIDEND 

All shareholders are encouraged to download the e-dividend mandate form from the Registrars website, 
execute same with their banks and send to the Registrars to update their records for automatic posting of 
dividends.

DIVIDEND PAYMENT 

If the dividend recommended by the Directors is approved by the members, the dividend warrants will be 
thpaid on Thursday, 6  June, 2024, to the shareholders whose names appear in the Register of Members at the 

st
close of business on Tuesday 21  May, 2024.

	 	
UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND

All shareholders with “Unclaimed Dividends” should address their claims to the Registrars, Veritas 
Registrars Limited, Plot 89A Ajose Adeogun Street, Victoria Island, Lagos. Due to volume involved, the 
list of all unclaimed dividends is hosted on our website  and also on the Registrars www.may-baker.com
website  for affected shareholders to access. All shareholders are www.veritasregistrars.com
encouraged to download the e-dividend mandate form from the Registrars' website, execute same with 
their banks and send to the Registrars to update their records for automatic posting of dividends.

http://www.may-baker.com
http://www.may-baker.com
http://www.veritasregistrars.com
http://www.may-baker.com
http://www.veritasregistrars.com


Notice of Annual General Meeting(contd.)

SPECIAL NOTICE

Messrs. PKF Professional Services had indicated that in keeping with the best governance practice 
indicated in Nigeria Code of Corporate Governance, 2018 and the Audit Regulations 2020 both issued by 
the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria, it would not seek re-appointment as External Auditors of the 
Company having spent 10 years continuously as the External Auditors of the Company.

Special notice is given pursuant to Section 411(a) of CAMA in respect of the appointment of Messrs. Grant 
Thorton Nigeria as the External Auditors of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER AND TRANSFER BOOKS

nd thThe Register of Members and Transfer Books will be closed from Wednesday 22  to Friday 24  May, 2024 
both days inclusive for the purpose of dividend. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In accordance with Section 404(6) of CAMA 2020, any member may nominate a shareholder as a member 
of the Audit Committee by giving notice in writing to the Company Secretaries at least 21 days before the 
Annual General Meeting.

Nominees to the Statutory audit Committee must be compliant with the laws, codes, rules and regulations 
guiding listed companies in Nigeria.

RIGHT TO ASK QUESTIONS

Members have a right to ask questions in writing prior to the meeting on their observations or concerns 
arising from the AR and FS 2021 provided that such questions in writing are submitted to the Company on 

st
or before Friday, 31  May, 2024. For ease of submission, a dedicated email address: financials@may-
baker.com has been created.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENT
CAMA has introduced “Disclosure of Remuneration of Managers” to the ordinary business of the Annual 
General Meeting.

The Corporate Guidelines 2021 (Guidelines) issued by the CAC has defined a Manager in relation to 
disclosure of remuneration at the Annual General Meeting to include any person by whatever name called 
occupying a position in senior management and who is vested with significant autonomy, discretion and 
authority in the administration and management of the affairs of a Company (whether in whole or in part). 
The remuneration of Managers as defined in the Guidelines is stated on page 105 of the Annual Report.

LIVE STREAMING OF THE AGM

The AGM will be streamed live online to enable shareholders and other relevant stakeholders who will not 
be attending the meeting physically to also be part of the proceedings. The link for live streaming will be 
made available on the Company's website  a day before the meeting.www.may-baker.com

mailto:financials@may-baker.com
mailto:financials@may-baker.com
http://www.may-baker.com


Report on Corporate Governance

In line with best practices, May & Baker Nigeria Plc has embraced the tenets of good corporate governance which are reflected 
in its practices, processes and structures.

May & Baker Nigeria Plc is committed to the principles contained in the Code of Corporate Governance as issued by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), Nigerian Code of Corporate Governance 2018 issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council of Nigeria (FRCN) and to the regulations of the Companies and Allied Matters Act, 2020 (CAMA 2020), the 
requirements of industry regulators, provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and all other applicable National 
and Local laws. To further protect and promote stakeholders' interests, the Board of Directors has implemented a viable 
compliance system. 

May & Baker Nigeria Plc's business principles are valid throughout the Company and serve as guidelines in the adherence to 
uncompromising standards of business ethics and integrity. The core values of the Company are (amongst others): ethical and 
lawful conduct of  business; accountability, honesty and fairness, trust and mutual respect, respect of human rights in all aspects 
of business transactions; shareholder  satisfaction and protection of shareholder's investment.

The Board of Directors
· Composition
The Board is comprised of a Non-Executive Chairman, the Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer, one Executive Director, 
three other Non-Executive Directors and two Independent Non-Executive Directors who are charged with the responsibility of 
ensuring the proper running of the Company. Profiles of the Directors are stated on pages 26 to 28 of this document

· Roles and Responsibilities
- Sets the overall direction of the business.
- Designs and maintains good internal controls. 
- Approves the Company's strategic plans.
- Approves the appropriation and distribution of profits.
- Approves top management's terms of employment.
- Monitors and takes decisions on major risks facing the Company. 
- Reviews and considers matters reserved for the general board.

The Board met eight (8) times in the financial year ended 31st December, 2023 and details of the attendance of Directors are 
as follows:-                                                               

                                                  27/1/23       23/3/23       27/4/23       1/6/23       27/7/23       28/9/23       27/10/23       30/11/23
Sen. D. Danjuma - Chairman        A                A                  A              A                 A                 A                 A                   A
Mr. P. Ajah                                     A                A                  A              A                 A                 A                 A                   A
Dr. E. Abebe                                  A                A                  AB           A                 A                 A                 A                   A
Mr. A.S. Aboderin                         A                A                  A              A                 A                 A                 A                   A
Mrs. G.O. Odumodu                     A                A                  A              A                 A               N/A             N/A               N/A
Mr. V.C. Okelu                              A                A                  A              A                 A               N/A             N/A               N/A
Chief S.M. Onyishi                       A                A                  A              A                 A                 A                 A                   A
Mr. K.O. Durojaiye                       A                A                  A              A                 A                 A                 A                   A
Dr.  (Mrs.) R. Ilegbodu                 A                A                  A              A                 A                 A                 A                   A
Mr. M.C. Odumodu                    N/A            N/A              N/A         N/A             N/A               A                 A                   A

th
§ Mr. V.C. Okelu retired as an Executive director of the Company on 27  July, 2023.

th
§ Mrs. G.I. Odumodu resigned as a Non-Executive Director of the Company 27  July, 2023.

th§ Mr. M.C. Odumodu was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 27  July, 
2023.

.
The Board reserves certain powers, duties and responsibilities and has delegated authority and responsibility for the day to day 
running of the Company to the Managing Director ably assisted by the Management team.
The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director are separate and clearly defined in line with global best practice.
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In discharging its oversight responsibilities, the Board makes use of various Committees. Each Committee is focused on a 
particular area of responsibility and provides informed feedback and advice to the Board. The activities of each Committee are 
guided by its stated Terms of Reference. The Committees report directly to the Board on their activities, issues, 
recommendations and decisions. The Statutory Audit Committee is further required to report to the Shareholders on its 
activities.

The following Committees have been established:-

• Board Committees
- Executive – comprises of only Executive Directors and Senior Management officers. The Committee meets as 

often as necessary in order to take decisions on major matters as well as issues that border on labour and other 
matters that have to do with the day to day running of the business. 

- Statutory Audit - is comprised of three (3) representatives of the Shareholders and two (2) Non-Executive 
Directors. The Committee was chaired by Mrs. C. Vincent-Uwalaka in the 2023 financial year. The Committee 
carries out its function in accordance with the provisions of Section 404(7) CAMA 2020. 

                      The Statutory Audit Committee met six (6) times in the 2023  financial year for the review and consideration of the 
financial statements and other matters stated in Section 404(7) of CAMA 2020. The Committee met on the 
following dates: 

   
                                                    26/4/23           27/7/23            16/8/23            26/10/23            26/1/24             26/3/24
Mrs. C. Vincent-Uwalaka              A        A                 A              A                      A                      A

Mr. O.B. Adeleke               A        A                 A              A                      A                      A

Mrs. G.I. Odumodu              A       N/A               N/ A             N/A                 N/A                  N/ A

Chief S.M. Onyishi               X        A                 A                   A                      A                      A
 
Mr. K. Kalejaiye               X                    A                 A                        A                      A                     A

Mr. K. Durojaiye                             X                    A                 A                        A                      A                     A

- Nominations, Remuneration and Governance Committee: is comprised of only Non-Executive Directors 
excluding the Chairman of the Company, in line with Section 11.1 of the Code of Corporate Governance issued 
by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC CCG) and Section 2.9 of the Nigerian Code of Corporate 
Governance issued by the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (FRCN NCCG). 

stThe Committee met five (5) times in the year ended 31  December, 2023 on the following dates:-    

                                                         20/3/23              30/3/23              30/5/23               25/9/23             27/11/23 
Chief S.M. Onyishi      A                 A                       A           A                      A      
       
Dr. E. Abebe                     A                 A                       A           A                      A
         
Mrs. G.I. Odumodu                   A                AB                     A          N/A      N/A 
                      
Mr. K. Durojaiye                                  A                     A                       A             A                      X
             
Dr. (Mrs.) R. Ilegbodu                   A                        A             A                          A                      A

Mr. M.C. Odumodu                 N/A               N/A           N/A                       X                      A
 

- Risk Management Committee - is comprised of two Non-Executive Directors excluding the Chairman of the 
Company, the Independent Non-Executive Directors as well as two Executive Directors of the Company in line 
with Sections 2.9 and 11.5.2 of the FRCN NCCG respectively. However, one other Executive Director, the heads 
of Pharma Plant Operations, Pharma Sales & Marketing and the Internal Auditor were in attendance at the 
meetings of the Committee in accordance with Section 10.4 of the SEC CCG.
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The Committee met four (4) times in the year ended 31st December, 2023 on the following dates:-
      
                                                          22/3/23                    31/5/23               27/9/23                28/11/23     
Dr. E. Abebe                       A             A                     A                      A
        
Mr. K.O. Durojaiye        A         A                    A                     A 
       
Mr. P. Ajah                                   A         A                    A                     A 
       
Mr. A.S. Aboderin                    A         A                    A                     A

Dr. (Mrs.) R. Ilegbeodu                 A         A                    A                     A
 
Mr. V.C. Okelu                    A         A                 N/A                  N/A 
         
Mr. G. Obiakor(Internal Auditor)          A        A                   A       A

Mr. M.C. Odumodu    N/A                   N/A                   X                    A

Key:  A = Present 
   
                                     R = Represented by an alternate
    
                                   AB = Absent  
  
                                   N/A = Not a Director as at the date of the meeting 
   
                                    X = Not a Member as at the date of the meeting
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Internal Control
The Company employs reasonable and appropriate accounting policies in the preparation of its financial statements that ensures 
that a sound system of internal control that safeguards its assets and Shareholders' wealth is maintained. This is enhanced by the 
activities of the internal audit department whose function includes that of monitoring compliance with laid down company 
policies as well as verification of certain categories of invoices ahead of settlement.

Code of Conduct
The Company's operations are governed by a code of conduct which comprises the core values held as a bond with all 
stakeholders and these include INTEGRITY which ensures that the Company maintains the highest level of honesty and 
principles, and subscribe to the highest standard of ethical conduct, which is overall governed by FAITH IN GOD. The Company 
has several policies governing it’s activities, some of which are stated here under. These policies can be accessed and 
downloaded from the Company's website, https://may-baker.com/corporate-governance/

Securities Trading Policy
In line with Section 14 of the Nigerian Stock Exchange amended rules, the Company has developed a Securities Trading Policy 
which has been reviewed and approved by the Board.  This policy provides guidance to all related parties on trading in the shares 
of the Company.  

Complaints Management Policy
The Company has a Complaint Management Policy and Framework in place in accordance with Securities and Exchange 
Commission's directives on resolution of shareholders and investors complaints.  

Whistle Blowing Policy
The Company has a Whistle Blowing Policy. This policy has been reviewed and approved by the Board and covers, among other 
things, the procedures for the receiving, retention and treatment of information from whistle blowers.  

Quality System Policy
The Company is committed to the manufacture, distribution and delivery of quality healthcare products and services that 
constantly meet the needs of customers.  It is also committed to the proper implementation, maintenance and continual 
improvement of processes according to the requirements of NIS ISO 9001: 2015 Quality Management System Standard.

Infringement of Regulation
The Group complied with all regulatory requirements of the Nigerian Stock Exchange, Securities and Exchange Commission 
and the Financial Reporting Council during the year and was not penalized or fined for any infringement.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

ADETOUN ABIRU
FRC/2013/PRO/ICSAN/002/00000003280
for: MARINA NOMINEES LIMITED
Secretaries

LAGOS, NIGERIA
th28  March, 2024



1.	 ACCOUNTS
The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements of the Company for 

st
the year ended 31  December, 2023.

2.	 RESULT	 	 	 	 	 	 	      2023
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	     ₦’000
  

The group revenue for the year                                               19,695,464
The group profit for the year after taxation was 	 	 1,083,019	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

3.	 LEGAL STATUS
The Company commenced operations in Nigeria in 1944 after it was incorporated as a private 
limited liability company and was converted to a public company in 1979. The Company was listed 

th
on The Nigerian Stock Exchange on 10  November, 1994.

4.	 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company manufactures and distributes pharmaceutical products, diagnostic equipment, 
reagents, consumer products and human vaccines. The Company also engages as contract 
manufacturers for other companies and organisations. The Company has three subsidiaries, 
Osworth Nigeria Limited, Tydipacks Nigeria Limited and Servisure Nigeria Limited and has the 
majority shareholding in Biovaccines Nigeria Limited, a collaboration with the Federal 
Government for the supply of vaccines. The principal activities of the subsidiaries and the related 
company are as follows:-

Report of the Directors for the year 
ended December 31st, 2023.

 
Subsidiary 

 
Principal Activities  

Date of 
Incorporation 

Percentage 
Holding 

 
Tydipacks Nigeria Limited  
 
 
Osworth Nigeria Limited  
 
 
 
Servisure Nigeria Limited  
 

 
Healthcare and Industrial  
Packaging 
 
Distribution and sales of  
personal care and  
pharmaceutical products  
 
Distribution and sales of  
pharmaceutical products  

 
14th Dec, 2009 
 
 
1st Sept, 2008 
 
 
 
17th Dec, 2009 
 

 
100% 

 
 

100% 
 
 
 

100% 
 

 
The financial results of all the subsidiaries have been consolidated in these financial 
statements.  
 
Related Company  
 

Biovaccines Nigeria Limited  
 

 

Production and sales of 
vaccines 

 
1st Sept. 2005 

 
51% 
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5.	 REVIEW OF BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
The Company has continued to review its corporate strategy towards ensuring that it is better 
positioned to take a leadership position in the regional healthcare space in the coming years in line with 
its mission statement of becoming the leading healthcare Company in Sub-Saharan Africa.

In the year under review, despite the challenging economic environment, the Group, in the opinion of 
the Directors performed satisfactorily and in accordance with planning.

stSave as herein disclosed, no other events have occurred since the year ended 31  December, 2023 
which would affect the Financial Statements.

6.	 DIVIDEND

The Directors have recommended a dividend of 30kobo per share amounting N517,570,465.80k 
(subject to applicable withholding tax) for the year (2022 - N517,570,465.80k).

7.	 UNCLAIMED SHARE CERTIFICATES OR DIVIDENDS
Shareholders who have either unclaimed share certificates or dividends should contact the Registrars, 
Veritas Registrars Limited, Plot 89 Ajose Adeogun Street, Victoria Island, Lagos.

8.	 DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' INTERESTS
The names of the Directors of the Company are listed on page 26 - 28
1. Mr. Michael Chineme Odumodu the Director appointed since the last Annual General Meeting 

retires at this meeting and being eligible, offers himself for election.
2. Biological Information on newly appointed Director, Mr. Michael Chineme Odumodu:

Ø Age –    32 years
Ø Nationality – Nigerian
Ø BSc Economics – University of Kent, United Kingdom
Ø MSc Economics and Strategy for Business – Imperial College Business School, United 

Kingdom.

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association and section 285(2) of Companies and 
Allied Matters Act, 2020 (CAMA 2020), Senator D. Danjuma and Mr. K.O. Durojaiye retire by 
rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

3.	 In compliance with Section 284(2) of CAMA 2020, the record of Directors' attendance at Board 
meetings is exhibited for inspection at this meeting.

4.	 Interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company are:

th st st	 	 	 	 	   	 28  March	   31  December   31  December
	 	 	 	 	   	 2024 	 	   2023	      	     2022	
	 	 	 	 	   	 Number 	   Number	     Number
Senator D. Danjuma (INDIRECT)	 	 	 746,841,302     	   746,841,302	      746,841,302
Mr. P.O. Ajah	 	 	 	 	 NIL	 	   NIL         	      NIL
Dr. E. Abebe	 	 	 	 	 909,373 	                 909,373                  NIL
Chief S.M. Onyishi (MON) 	 	 	 257,264,668	   257,264,668	      257,264,668
Mr. K.O. Durojaiye HCIB, FCA	 	 	 139,570		   139,570	      139,570
Dr. (Mrs.) Rahila Ilegbodu (INDIRECT) 	 	 61,632,695	   61,632,695	       61,632,695
Mr. A.S. Aboderin		 	 	                93,500	 	   93,500	 	       93,500
Mr. M.C. Odumodu (INDIRECT)	 	 	 57,752,156	   57,752,156               57,752,156
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 Indirect shareholders represented by Directors on the Board are as follows: 
Ø Senator D. Danjuma representing: T.Y. Holdings Limited, Oil Tech Nigeria Limited 

and Osis Yukiv Limited. 
Ø Dr. R. Ilegbodu representing: Maydav Multi Resources Limited 
Ø Mr. M.C. Odumodu representing: Seravac Nigeria Limited.  

 
For the purposes of sections 301, 302 and 303 of CAMA 2020 and in accordance with the 
listing requirement of the NSE some Directors gave notices of interest direct or indirect in 
some contracts or activities of the Group. 

 
9. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE HOLDING 
 1. The Company did not purchase its own shares during the year. 

2. The Share Capital of the Company is N862,617,443 divided into 1,725,234,886 
ordinary shares of 50 kobo each. 

3. The Share Capital of the Company has been fully issued to the tune of N862,617,443 
divided into 1,725,234,886 ordinary shares of 50 kobo each.  

 
10. SUBSTANTIAL INTEREST IN SHARES 

List of shareholding of 5% and above (Section 95 of CAMA) 
 

Director Representing 28th March, 
2024 

 31 Dec. 2023  31st Dec, 
2022 

 

  No of Units % No of Units % No of Units % 
Senator Daisy 
Danjuma 

>T.Y. Holdings Ltd. 
>Oil Tech Nig. Ltd. 
>Osis Yukiv Ltd. 

720,878,543 
14,874,759 
11,088,000 

41.78 
0.86 
0.64 

720,878,543 
14,874,759 
11,088,000 

41.78 
0.86 
0.64 

720,878,543  
14,874,759 
11,088,000 

41.78 
 0.86 
 0.64 

Chief Samuel  
Onyishi (MON) 

>Onyishi S.M. 
 

257,264,668 
 

14.91 
 

257,264,668 
 

14.91 
 

257,264,668 
 

14.91 
 

 
No individual shareholder other than as stated above held more than 5% of the issued share 
capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2023. 

 
11. FREE FLOAT 

The Free Float analysis of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company as at 31st 
December, 2023 and 28th March, 2024 when the Financial Statements were approved, were as 
follows: 

      No. of  % holding No. of          % holdings  
Ordinary as at 28th      Ordinary      as at 31st  
Shares  March, Shares         Dec., 2023 
held as  2024  held as at 
at 28th        31st Dec.,    
March, 2024   2023  

 
Strategic Shareholding  846,050,124  49.04  846,050,124  49.04 
Directors’ direct shareholding 294,665,905  17.08  294,665,905  17.08 

 Staff Schemes    NIL    NIL   NIL   NIL 
 Free Float    584,518,857     33.88  584,518,857  33.88  
 TOTAL    1,725,234,886   100.00 1,725,234,886  100.00 
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12.

13.	 FIXED ASSETS
Movements in fixed assets during the year are shown in Note 12 on pages 86 - 87. In the opinion of the 
Directors, the market values of the Company's properties are not less than the values shown in the financial 
statements.

14.	 DONATIONS AND CSR INITIATIVES
The Company was alive to its Corporate Social Responsibility during the year. Donations to charitable 
organizations during the year amounted to N9,242,057.72 (2022 – N6,379,422.09). 

The details are:

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
In accordance with section 43(2) of the CAMA 2020, the Company did not make any donation or gift to any 
political party, political association or for any political purpose in the course of the year under review.

Details  Amount (N) 

Support for Kidney  Diseases Foundation 1,200,000.00 

Adoption of sweeping route (LWMA)  2,376,000.00 

Support for medical education research  1,400,000.00 

Free medical outreach -World Hypertension 
Day 1,100,250.00 

Support for indigent school children 1,214,750.00 

Others 1,951,057.72 

Total CSR 9,242,057.72 
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15.       RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
In order to maintain and enhance its skills and abilities, the Company's policy of continuously researching into 
new products and services was maintained. The Company incurred N21,644,325 (2022 – N11,072,491.70) on 
various research projects during the year.

16.	 TECHNICAL SERVICES AND KNOW-HOW AGREEMENT
The Company did not enter any Technical Services Agreement with any organization which is registerable with 
the National Office for Technology Acquisition and Promotion (NOTAP). 

17.	 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
The company executed an agreement with Kensington International Marketing Company Ltd. (KIMCO) for 
contract manufacturing of its products in Nigeria. 

18.	 COMPANY'S DISTRIBUTORS
The Company's major distributors are:
Chufil Pharmacy	 	 	 	 	 Daruchi Products Limited
Audion Nigeria Limited		 	 	               Fulfilled Dream Pharmacy
Csc Pharma Limited	 	 	 	 	 Canez Healthcare Limited
Onyema Pharmacy	 	 	 	 	 Fiolu Pharm Limited
Dimatts Pharm. Limited		 	 	              Ogbuagu Pharm. Coy.

19.	 SUPPLIERS
The Company's suppliers are both local and foreign. Some of the Company's major suppliers are:

Local	 	 	 	 	 	 Foreign

	 Unikem Industries Limited	 	 	 	 Meghamani LLP
	 Orient Global Manufacturing Co. Ltd.	 	               Front Pharmaceutical Plc.
	 HK Printing & Packaging Limited	 	 	 Parle Elizabeth Tools Pvt Limited
	 Wahum Packaging Limited	 	 	 	 Belco Pharma
	 Providence Associated Industries Ltd.	 	              Inventia Healthcare Limited
	 Dangote Sugar Refinery Plc.	 	 	 	 Ruian Hualian Imp. & Exp.

	 The Company is not related to any of its suppliers.

20.	 EMPLOYMENT AND EMPLOYEES

	 1. Employment of disabled persons
It is the policy of the Company that there is no discrimination in considering applications for employment 
including those from disabled persons. All employees whether or not disabled are given equal opportunities to 

stdevelop their experience and knowledge and to qualify for promotion in furtherance of their careers. As at 31  
December, 2023 there was no disabled person in the employment of the Company.

	2.Health, safety at work and welfare of employees
Health and safety regulation are in force within the premises of the Company. The Company provides subsidy in 
transportation, housing, meal and medical expenses to all employees.

	3.Employee involvement and training
The Company is committed to keeping employees fully informed regarding its performance and progress and 
seeking their views wherever practicable on matters which particularly affect them as employees.
Management, professional and technical expertise are the Company's major assets and investment to develop 
such skills, continues.
The Company's expanding skill's base has been extended by the provision of training which has broadened 
opportunities for career development within the organization.
Incentive schemes designed to meet the circumstances of each individual are implemented wherever 
appropriate. 
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21.	 AUDIT COMMITTEE
stThe members of the statutory Audit Committee appointed at the Annual General Meeting held on 1  June, 2023 

in accordance with Section 404(3) of CAMA 2020 were:-
				 	 	 	 	 	              Designation

Mrs. C. Vincent-Uwalaka	 	 	 Chairman
Mr. O.B. Adeleke	 	 	 	 Member
Mr. K. Kalejaiye		 	 	              Director/Member
Chief S.M. Onyishi	                                        Director/Member
Mr. K.O. Durojaiye																																            Director/Member
The Committee met in accordance with the provisions of Section 404 of CAMA 2020 and will present 

its report.

22.	 COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge that the Company had substantially complied with the 
provision of the Companies and Allied Matters Act 2020, Code of Corporate Governance of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, the Nigerian Code of Corporate Governance 2018 as well as the regulations of NSE and 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and other regulatory requirements.
The Directors further confirm that the Company had adopted the IFRS and had complied with the provisions 
thereof.

23.	 EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM
As the Company operates in a dynamic environment, it continuously monitors its internal controls system to 
ensure its continued effectiveness. In doing this, the Company employs both high level and preventive controls 
which will ensure maximum opportunity for prevention of misleading or inaccurate financial statement, 
properly safeguard its assets and ensure achievement of its corporate goals while complying with relevant laws 
and regulations.

24.	 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
There were no post balance sheet events that would have had an effect on these financial statements.

25.	 HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Employee relations were stable and cordial in the year under review. 

26.	 AUDITORS
“Messrs. PKF Professional Services had indicated that in keeping with the best governance practice, in the 
Nigerian Corporate Governance 2018 and the Audit Regulations 2020, both issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council of Nigeria, it would not seek re-appointment as External Auditors of the Company having spent 10 years 
continuously in that position. The Directors have engaged Messrs. Grant Thornton Nigeria to fill the casual 
vacancy left by the exit of Messrs. PKF Professional Services. Special notice has been given pursuant to Section 
411(a) of CAMA in respect of the appointment of Messrs Grant Thornton Nigeria as External Auditors of the 
Company at the Annual General Meeting.
The Auditors Messrs. Grant Thornton Nigeria have indicated their willingness to continue in office as the 
Company's Auditors in accordance with Section 401(2) of CAMA 2020. A resolution will be proposed 
authorising the Directors to fix their remuneration. 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

ADETOUN ABIRU
FRC/2013/PRO/ICSAN/002/00000003280
for: MARINA NOMINEES LIMITED
Secretaries
LAGOS NIGERIA

th
28  March, 2024



Report of the Directors for the year 
ended December 31st, 2023.(contd.)STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES 

IN RELATION TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements, that give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of each financial year and of the profit or loss for that year 
and comply with the Companies and Allied Matters  Act, 2020 (CAMA).

 The Directors are required by the provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance issued by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC) in April, 2011 to issue this statement in connection with the preparation 
of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023.

In doing so, they must ensure that:
• adequate control procedures are instituted which, as far as is reasonably possible, safeguard the 

assets and prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities;
• ethical standards are maintained and the Company complies with the laws of Nigeria and the Codes 

of Corporate Governance;
• the terms of reference and procedures of all board committees are determined;
• proper accounting records are maintained;
• applicable accounting standards are adhered to;
• suitable accounting policies are adopted and consistently applied;
• judgments and estimates made are reasonable and prudent;
• the going concern basis is adopted, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 

continue in business.

The Directors accept responsibility for the preparation of these financial statements, which have been 
prepared in compliance with:

• The provisions of the International Financial Reporting Standard;
• The provisions of CAMA;
• The provisions of the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria, Act No. 6, of 2011;
• The published accounting and financial reporting standard issued by the Financial Reporting 

Council of Nigeria; and
• The regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Nigerian Stock Exchange

The Directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern based on 
the supporting assumptions stated in the financial statements, and have every reason to hold that the 
Company will remain a going concern in the financial year ahead.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors by:

---------------------------------------------       ---------------------------------------------

      Senator Daisy Danjuma                Mr. Patrick  Ajah             
                Chairman                             Managing Director
  FRC/2020/003/00000020890                              FRC/2021/003/00000023215
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Senator Daisy Danjuma

Mr. Patrick Ajah

Chairman

Managing Director

- Appointed  a Director 30th May, 2019
- Graduate of Law, Ahmadu Bello Uni. - 1976
- Called to Bar - 1977
- Alumnus of Lagos Business School
- Trustee of HID Awolowo Foundation
- Chairman, Board of Trustees of Lagos Public
  Interest Law Partnership
- Exec Chairman, South Atlantic Petroleum Limited
- Member of the International Bar Association and 
the International Federation of Female Lawyers 

- Date of birth: August 6, 1952

- Appointed  a Director 1st December, 2020
- Appointed Managing Director/CEO 1st   
January, 2021

- B. Pharm.  University of Ibadan (1988-1994) 
  MBA Obafemi  Awolowo University (2002-  
2005)

- Vast Professional experience with several  
awards for outstanding performance 

- Has Attended several professional and 
leadership courses

- Date of birth -Jan 10, 1967
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    - Appointed 14th March, 2013
   - MBBS, College of Med; University of Lagos, 1969 - 1974
   - M.Sc. Community Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, 1978 - 1979 
   - Retired Perm Sec. Fed. Govt. of Nigeria.
   - Fellow, Nigerian Institute of Management.
   - Member, Nigerian Medical Association.
   - Member, Chartered Institute of Directors
  - Has several International awards/honours
   - Date of birth: October 17, 1950 

- Appointed 4th June, 2021
   - Holds a Masters in Banking and Finance (MBF)  from University of Lagos.
   - Director, CBN, April - July, 2017
   - Fellow, Institute of Chartered Accountant of Nigeria (FCA).
   - Has vast training and exposure in strategy formulation, development and
     implementation of core business functions.
   - Vast experience in various capacities on research, training, auditing, accounting 
    and banking supervision & other special assignments
    - Date of birth: August 3, 1960 

    - Appointed 27th of July 2023.
   - Holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the University of Kent, UK 
   - Holds a Masters Degree in Economics and Strategy from 
   Imperial College Business School, UK - 2017
   - An experienced Investment professional analyst
  - Accomplished project management expert.
  - Date of birth: August 2, 1991
 

  

Dr. Edugie Abebe

Mr. Michael C. Odumodu

Mr. Kolawole O. Durojaiye
 FCA, HCIB
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    - Appointed 30th June, 2022
    - MBBS – Lagos University Teaching Hospital
  - BA Biology – Taylor University, Upland Indiana, USA
 Has a wealth of experience in medical administration and practice
   - Date of birth:October 18, 1963

Dr. (Mrs.) Rahila Ilegbodu

- Appointed Exec. Director, 1st March. 2017
 - Obtained Higher National Diploma in Accountancy from The Polytechnic, Ibadan, 1993
 - Holds an Executive Masters in Business Admin. EMBA from NOUN/COL, Canada 
 - Associate, Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (UK)
 - Fellow, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria (FCA)
 - Member, Chartered Institute of Directors 
 - Member, AICPA-(CGMA)
 - Diverse trainings & vast professional experience in core business areas/functions.
- Date of birth: October 20, 1968
     

Mr. Ayodeji S. Aboderin

 - Appointed Non-Executive Director, 21st March, 2019.
   - MBA in Entrepreneurship.Diploma and B. Sc. In Social 
   Work and Community Development from University
   of Nigeria, Nsukka – 1995 and 1999.
  - Fellow, Nigerian Institute of Science and Technology,
    Federal Polytechnic, Unwana Afikpo.
  - Prestigious Key Man Award for Business Excellence and Integrity
  - Chairman, Peace Mass Transit Limited.
  - Philanthropist, social entrepreneur and business mentor.
  -Date of birth: November 23, 1963           

Chief Samuel M. Onyishi (MON)



Report of the Audit Committee

In accordance with the provisions of Section 404(7) of the Companies and Allied Matters Act 2020 
(CAMA 2020) and Section 30 of the Code of Corporate Governance in Nigeria issued by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, we have received and considered the Consolidated Group Financial Statements of 

stthe Company for the year ended 31  December, 2023 and the reports thereon and confirm:

i. That the accounting and reported policies of the Company are in accordance with legal 
requirements and agreed ethical practices;

st
ii. That we have reviewed the scope and planning of the audit for the year ended 31  

December 2023;

iii. That we have reviewed the findings on management matters/letters issued by the External 
Auditors and Management responses thereto;

iv. That we have ensured the development of a comprehensive Internal Control Framework 
for the Company and obtained assurance on the operating effectiveness of the Internal 
Control Framework;

v. That we have seen Management’s procedure for the identification of significant fraud risks 
in the company and ensure that adequate prevention, detection and reporting mechanisms 
are in place;

vi. That in the course of the year, we have reviewed various reports by the Internal auditor 
describing the strength and quality of Internal control including issues and 
recommendations for improvements, raised during the most recent internal control review 
by the company.

stIn our opinion the scope and planning of the Group audit for the year to 31  December 2023 are adequate 
and we have made the recommendations required in respect of the External Auditors.

Mrs. C. Vincent-Uwalaka
(Audit Committee Chairman)
FRC/2013/I CAN/00000002666

thDated 26  March, 2024

Members of the Statutory Audit Committee
Mrs. C.O. Vincent-Uwalaka(Chairman)
Mr. B.O. Adeleke
Mr. K. Kalejaiye
Chief S.M. Onyishi 
Mr. K.O. Durojaiye
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1.0 Introduction

Welcome to our third May & Baker Nigeria Plc annual Sustainability Report.  As a pioneer pharmaceutical 
company in Nigeria, we are dedicated to collaboratively driving progress on sustainable development in 
partnership with our stakeholders.

At May & Baker Nigeria Plc, our sustainability culture is rooted in the fabric of our business strategy and 
operations to create positive social, environmental and economic impacts for all stakeholders. 

The May & Baker 2023 Sustainability Report, our second integrated report, covers the Company's 
sustainability activities between January 1, 2023, and December 31, 2023, and it communicates our 
sustainability performance (economic, social, governance and environmental), commitments and targets as 
a responsible and leading pharmaceutical brand. The report highlights our aspirations, progress, and 
challenges as we work towards integrating sustainability in every aspect of our business.

The report has been prepared using the Global Reporting Index (GRI) standards and principles of reliability, 
accuracy, balance completeness, sustainability context, materiality, completeness, and stakeholder 
inclusiveness.

The report is aimed at promoting transparency and accountability to stakeholders regarding the impacts of 
our business on society and our drive towards constantly achieving our sustainability targets.
This report also discloses our commitment to the Nigerian Stock Exchange (NGX) Sustainability Disclosure 
Guidelines and the sustainability principles contained in the Nigerian Code of Corporate Governance 
(NCCG) 2018. 

MAY & BAKER NIGERIA PLC- OTA FACTORY

PRESERVING TOMORROW'S HEALTH TODAY
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Our Approach to Sustainability

In line with our vision and mission, May & Baker embeds sustainability in every aspect of our business. We remain 
committed to supporting the achievement of the sustainability development goals (SDGs). We recognise that building a 
profitable business for our shareholders also requires that we contribute to socio-economic development and the 
protection of the environment. In furtherance of this, we are committed to:

· Building sustainable value-added relationships with our stakeholders
· Ensuring that our actions as a corporate organisation have minimal impact on the environment,
· Using our resources to contribute to economic growth and ensure increased shareholder value.
· Reducing the carbon footprint of our operations and our products.
· Communicating our sustainability performance transparently to all stakeholders.

 Materiality Assessment

The success of our company depends on conducting our business responsibly, engaging and addressing the concerns of 
our stakeholders. Through regular and varied channels, we engage with our stakeholders to identify and prioritise key 
interest areas for our stakeholders and business. We go further to integrate these material issues into our business, set 
targets and report on our progress regularly and transparently.

In 2023, as in the previous years, we adopted the dual materiality approach to assess our impacts and improve our 
disclosures on topics that have the most impacts on the environment, the economy, and society. 

 A survey was deployed using the Google Form survey platform, which was administered to employees, customers, 
media, community partners and investors. The survey assessed and ranked various environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) metrics according to their importance to the stakeholders. The responses were collected anonymously to ensure 
confidentiality and transparency. 

The responses were analysed, and scores were allocated to the various survey questions based on the frequency 
distribution of all relevant responses to each survey question per stakeholder group.
The assessment results were plotted on a materiality matrix to prioritise top material sustainability impacts and guide 
strategy. 
The insights from the engagement with our stakeholders are represented in the materiality matrix below:

2023 THEME” PRESERVING TOMORROW'S HEALTH TODAY”
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Delivering Sustainable Value
We recognise that the sustainability of our business is directly related to the value we create and deliver. We are 
committed to continually delivering long-term value to all our stakeholders:
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Nigerian Stock Exchange Sustainability Disclosure

The Nigerian Sustainability Disclosure Guidelines 2018 is aimed at integrating sustainability reporting for 
companies listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange and encouraging listed companies to adopt sustainability 
business practices. We have incorporated the NGX Disclosure Guidelines into our sustainability report in line 
with regulatory expectations.

Below is a table that  refers to various sections of the report showing how we have complied with the themes in the  
Sustainability Disclosure Guidelines 2018::

Theme  Reference Section 
Diversity in the Workplace  
 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion  

Labour relations  
 

Our People 

Occupational Health & Safety  
 

Occupational Health and Safety 

Compliance 
 

Regulatory Compliance  

Energy 
 

Energy Consumption, Carbon Emissions  

Waste Management  
 

Waste Management  

Society 
 

Our People 

Human Rights  
 

Human Rights  

Anti-corruption 
 

Anti-Corruption 

Responsible Products  
 

Product Quality and Safety  

Supplier Relationship Management and 
Ethics 
 

Sustainable Supply Chain  
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SUSTAINABLE GOVERNANCE

We recognise that good governance is key to our continued profitability and sustainability. Our corporate 
governance is focused on managing risk and supporting sustainable growth to create shared value for all our 
people, including our shareholders, employees, and local communities. We operate effective internal control 
systems and conduct corporate governance reviews annually to evaluate the effectiveness of our governance 
structure.

Governance Framework

At May & Baker, the Board of Directors make key decisions for the company except for the matters reserved for 
the shareholders in general meetings.. The Board Charter, the Memorandum and Articles of Association form the 
framework for the Company's corporate governance.

The Board's composition, with a mix of non-executive, independent non-executive and executive directors is in 
line with global best practice. The effective and innovative business strategy that our company benefits from is 
partly derived from the structure of our Board, which is gender diversified with professionals from different 
backgrounds.

The Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee is responsible for oversight of sustainability 
matters. The committee receives quarterly reports on the company's performance and progress on meeting its 
sustainability targets.

Business Ethics

We are committed to ethical business practices which is one of the major plllars ofr our business operations. We 
have put systems and controls in place to promote honesty, transparency, and accountability, in our business. Our 
commitment to ethical business conduct is amplified in our Code of Business Ethics, Employee Handbook, and 
other company policies.

Anti-Corruption

May & Baker maintains zero tolerance for corrupt practices such as fraud, bribes, and other forms of corruption. 
We have put in place a robust system for reporting and investigating any allegations of corruption in our business 
and a sanctions system is in place for erring employees and partners.

The Company's Code of Business Ethics outlines the company's position on anti-corruption. Annually, every 
employee and business partner are required to acknowledge their willingness to adhere to these principles 
through the execution of the Code of Conduct Form.

Regulatory Compliance

At May & Baker Nigeria Plc, we proactively comply with laws, rules and regulations of our various regulators 
including the National Agency for Food and Drug Regulation and Control, The Nigerian Exchange, the Securities 
and Exchange Commission, and the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria, to name a few.

We ensure that we maintain a clean compliance record by providing updates and training to staff on new laws, 
regulations, and guidelines, monitoring of company's compliance status through quarterly reports to the 
Nominations, Remuneration and Governance Committee, monitoring and maintenance of our internal control 
framework and regular interface with regulators.

In the reporting period, there was no penalty nor fine levied against the Company.
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Stakeholder Engagement
At May & Baker Nigeria Plc, we continuously engage with our stakeholders using different 
communication channels to enable us better understand and address the concerns of our stakeholders. The 
nature of our sustainability commitments require us to be honest in evaluating our current state as an 
organisation, open to discussing the validity of our actions and ready to innovate and continuously improve 
our people, products, and processes.

In the year under review, we engaged with our stakeholders at various times and through various media as 
shown in the table below.

Stakeholder 
Group 

Mode of Engagement Frequency of 
Engagement 

Material Issues 
Raised 
 

Investors Annual General 
Meeting 
Extraordinary General 
Meeting 
Corporate Actions 

Regular Financial 
performance  
Return on 
Investments 
Investor Relations 

Employees 
 
 
 
 
 

Meetings and 
Briefings 
Seminars and Training 
Performance Reviews 

Regular Compensation and 
Benefits 
Learning and 
Development 
Health and Safety 

 
 
 
Customers 
 
 

Customer Satisfaction 
Survey 
Customer Forum 
Emails and Telephone 
Calls 
Customer Visits 

Frequent Logistics/Delivery, 
Invoicing and 
Payment, Product 
Quality & Safety, 
Product Storage 

 
 
Suppliers 
 
 
 
 

Supplier Forum 
Emails and Telephone 
Calls 
Site Visits and 
Inspections 

As the need arises Price reviews 
Payment Cycle and 
delays 
Port delays 
LC Confirmation 

Media Press Conferences 
Interviews 
Media Parleys 
Product launches 

As the need arises  

Local 
Community 

Town Hall Meetings 
Strategic Partnerships 
Community 
development 
Initiatives 

Regular CSR Interventions 

Government/ 
Regulatory 
Bodies 

Consultations 
Emails and Phone 
calls 
Compliance reporting 
Meetings 
Training on new laws 
and regulations 

Regular Regulatory 
Compliance 
Adoption of global 
best practices 
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

May & Baker Nigeria Plc recognises the critical importance of environmental sustainability in today's world. As 
part of our commitment to caring for our environment, we continuously set targets, and monitor and improve our 
impacts across all aspects of our operations.

Energy Consumption
We recognise that our operations are energy-intensive, and we have committed to achieving a 30% reduction in 
our energy consumption by 2030. This target cuts across both our office buildings and factories. To achieve this, 
we are implementing several initiatives. We are replacing old air conditioners at our offices with eco-friendly, 
energy-efficient inverter air conditioners. We also use LED lighting in our facilities, which consumes less energy.

We are planning to install solar-powered, motion-sensitive security lights to minimise our energy consumption.

We champion continuous employee awareness (through notices in the offices, and on the intranet) on minimising 
energy consumption by switching off equipment and appliances that are not in use.

Total volume of Natural Gas consumed in 2023 was 13,886 Cubic meters (m3)

Carbon Emissions
In 2023, a larger percentage of our energy consumption was largely from electricity generated from fossil fuels - 
gas and diesel. To lower our carbon footprints, we are making efforts to reduce our dependency on fossil fuels. 
We have set a target to achieve at least a fifty-fifty ratio of fossil fuel to renewable energy in our energy mix

We recognise that climate change remains one of the biggest challenges of our time and we are committed to 
reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and exploring opportunities that are arising in a low-carbon 
economy. Our strategy towards reducing GHG emissions include improving energy efficiency and adopting eco-
friendly energy sources. We are partnering with power companies to generate renewable energy through the 
purchase and installation of solar energy systems at some of our facilities to power our business operations. We 
are implementing an initiative that would result in a phase-out of diesel-powered generators, to be replaced by 
more eco-friendly gas-powered generators. Studies have shown that burning natural gas for energy results in 
fewer emissions of nearly all types of air pollutants and carbon dioxide (CO2) than burning coal or petroleum 
products to produce an equal amount of energy.

 We encourage carpooling among staff for daily operational activities to reduce the number of vehicles in use 
thereby reducing emissions. Through energy-efficient practices, renewable energy adoption and transportation 
optimisation, we continue to lower our carbon footprint. 

Our efforts to reduce carbon emissions have resulted in a 10% decrease compared to 2022.  

Waste Management
At May & Baker, we are continuing with our Reduce, Reuse and Recycle strategy for waste reduction. We 
conduct regular waste audits to enable us to monitor our level of waste production and measure our performance 
in reducing waste. In addition, packaging redesign is among the waste management strategies we are 
implementing to meet our waste reduction targets. Our efforts to reduce hazardous and non-hazardous waste 
have resulted in a 50% decrease to 0.35 tonnes/year compared to 2022.
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Water Conservation
We acknowledge that water is an important and finite resource and are committed to using water responsibly and 
efficiently in our business. Between 2022 and 2023, we consumed about 5280 m3 of water. The graph below shows 
the water volume consumed from 2021 to 2023. 

We operate an effluent treatment plant, where we purify our industrial wastewater and convert it to clean safe 
water.
We invested in water-efficient flush toilets to minimise the use of water.  We also run regular employee 
awareness campaigns to promote responsible and sustainable water usage in our operations. These measures 
have ensured that there was no increase in our water consumption in 2023 even with higher activities compared 
with 2022.

Biodiversity Preservation
At May & Baker, we are committed to preserving biodiversity in our local community.  Over the years we 
have grown a diverse range of trees and shrubs around our facilities which helps to offset the carbon 
emissions from our manufacturing operations (see Factory picture on page 30)

Environmental Compliance
We comply with global, national, and local environmental rules, regulations, and standards. We conduct routine 
(monthly/quarterly) noise and air quality assessments and effluent monitoring in compliance with national and 
state laws.

We regularly review our sustainability policy, to ensure alignment with global best practices and national and 
local laws and regulations.

In 2023, we recorded zero environmental non-compliance and did not incur any regulatory sanction or penalty 
for non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations..
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CONTRIBUTION TO THE ECONOMY

At May & Baker, we recognise that the sustainability of our business lies in continual value creation for our 
stakeholders. We are in business not only to maximise profit for our shareholders but to also contribute to the 
economic growth of the society at large.

Our revenue increased by 38% from ₦14.3 billion in 2022 to ₦19.9 billion in 2023., Our declared dividend for 
the period stood at 30k per ordinary share to our shareholders and the total dividend declared for the period stood 
at ₦517 Million.

Our gross earnings grew from ₦3.9 billion in 2022 to ₦6.6 billion in 2023, representing a 69% growth rate.
We are committed to the economic prosperity of our employees. We ensure fair compensation and benefits to our 
employees even as we continue to navigate the tough economic situation.

We also meet our obligations to the government by paying our taxes promptly as responsible corporate citizens. 
We remitted ₦534.3 million in income tax to the government in this reporting period.

 Product Quality and Safety
At May & Baker, we pride ourselves in the quality of our products, which sets us apart from the competition. As 
such, we set and maintain stringent quality targets to continuously manufacture quality healthcare products. We 
value the trust which our customers and the entire public have in our products, and we continuously strengthen 
our rigorous quality assurance and control procedures to ensure a consistent level of quality.

We are also committed to the proper implementation, maintenance, and continual improvement of the 
effectiveness of ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management System and WHO-GMP (World Health Organization 
Good Manufacturing Practices) standards.

We provide transparent labelling information on all our products in compliance with regulatory requirements. 

We provide regular training for stakeholders on our products and conduct regular product safety evaluations as 
part of our commitment to product safety.

Sustainable Supply Chain
Our suppliers are key to our business operations, and we work closely with them to ensure continuous 
improvement in performance and quality.

Adherence to our code of conduct is a pre-requisite for all suppliers and contractors and it guides our engagement 
with them to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations and global best practices. We provide 
secure channels for suppliers to report any issues arising from doing business with us and for prompt resolution 
of such issues.

We promote local procurement in our operations to positively impact small and medium indigenous businesses 
in our locality. In 2023, 30% of our procurement budget was spent on local suppliers.



Sustainability Report

OUR PEOPLE
Our employees are the lifeblood of May & Baker Nigeria Plc. We maintain a work environment where our people 
can build fulfilling careers while having a great work-life balance. We strive to ensure that our business strategy 
creates shared values for the economic growth and well-being of our employees.

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion
Employing both locally and from different parts of Nigeria, the company takes its diversity, equity, and inclusion 
targets very seriously. Our policy on diversity, equality and inclusion sets out the company's goals in achieving a 
diverse and inclusive environment. The company is committed to increasing the number of women at all levels 
of the organisation, As of 2023, the total number of women working in the company compared with the men 
stood at 26% to 74%. 

May & Baker is an equal-opportunity employer. We continuously strive to improve our business performance by 
employing people from different backgrounds, with different perspectives, skills, and experiences.  We ensure 
that our work environment is conducive by providing the necessary support and resources for employees with 
disability to thrive in the company.

Non – Discrimination
We have a zero-tolerance policy for discrimination in the workplace. We proactively work to ensure that no 
employee is discriminated against based on age, tribe, gender, political opinion, or religion.  We promote 
awareness of the company's non-discrimination policy through training. In 2023, there was no reported case of 
discrimination in the company.

Training and Development
We are committed to enabling employees to acquire skills that will ensure relevance in a dynamic world and also 
contribute to the success of the company. We develop a training programme every year following an assessment 
of employee needs and provide custom training in various areas for employees in partnership with reputable 
training organisations.

We are committed to continually increasing the number of employees who access training opportunities 
personalised to their training needs year on year. This enables us to ensure that our employees are at the cutting 
edge of new knowledge and skills within their profession. In 2023, we spent about ₦30.8 million on training and 
development which represents about 196% cumulative growth from 2021.
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Employee Well-being

Employee well-being is at the top of management's agenda. We are continually taking necessary steps to monitor 
and maintain a high level of employee well-being. 

All employees are provided access to a HMO plan to support their health needs. Female employees have 
maternity leave to enable them to care for their newborn and on their return to work, are entitled to early closing 
time to assist them with the transition period.

In 2023, given the tough economic conditions in the country and its effect on citizens' spending power, the 
company implemented an economic relief package to the tune of 30% increase of total emoluments for all 
employees to minimize the adverse effects of the economic situation.

Human Rights
As a responsible corporate citizen, we continue to respect and uphold human rights as enshrined in the Nigerian 
Constitution, the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business, and the United Nations Global Compact.

We have put in place an accessible channel for reporting any human rights violations. In 2023, there were no 
reported cases of human rights breaches in the company.

Our target is to maintain a zero incidence of human rights violations. To achieve this, we plan to develop custom 
human rights training for our employees and to effectively monitor the human rights-related risks that are 
inherent in our operations.

Child Labour, Forced or Compulsory Labour 

We abide by the International Declaration of Human Rights and prohibit the use of forced compulsory and child 
labour in any form. In 2023, there was no incident of child and forced labour in our workforce.

Freedom of Association

At May & Baker, we recognise the right of employees to join formal groups that promote their occupational 
interests.  We acknowledge that the various employee interest groups provide an opportunity for constructive 
dialogue and engagement between the company and its employees.

In 2023, the total number of our employees covered by collective bargaining agreements increased from 352 
staff in 2022 to 364 staff in 2023 representing a 3.4% increase.

Occupational Health & Safety

At May & Baker, we take safety in the workplace seriously and maintain a proactive approach to the health and 
safety of our employees. We have put in place numerous measures to ensure the safety of our employees. We 
provide personal protective equipment for employees based on their job assessment. We ensure that all staff 
attend and participate in regular health and safety awareness training. Health and safety awareness training in 
2023 included emergency preparedness/fire drills, use of fire safety equipment, Safety training on the use of PPE, 
Safety in machine operations and First Aid Training. 

Safety signs are visibly posted in all parts of our office buildings and factories to ensure the safety of employees 
and visitors.
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SUSTAINABLE LOCAL COMMUNITIES

At May & Baker Nigeria Plc, we believe that to achieve our mission of improving the quality of life, throughout 
life for all lives, we must actively support the communities where we operate. We make a concerted effort to 
engage with the local community, listening to their needs and expectations and collaborating to implement the 
right initiatives to meet those needs. Through a myriad of community initiatives, we contribute significantly to 
the sustainable development of local communities. 

Our approach to community social investment is anchored on three (3) thematic areas, namely; Health, 
Education, and Environment. We have identified these as important issues through our stakeholder engagement 
with the different communities. In line with our vision, we will continue to engage our communities, provide 
them with sustainable solutions, and deliver positive environmental and social impacts

In 2023, our total social investment was ₦9.2 million, representing a 44% increase from 2022.

Case Study 1: “Care for the Future” initiative

May & Baker's Care for the Future initiative demonstrates our commitment to investing in people. Employees of 
the company visited selected schools in the states where we operate. As part of the programme, May & Baker 
branded items such as school bags, notebooks, pens, and water bottles were gifted to the students
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Case Study 2: Environmental Sanitation Support to Local Agency 

May & Baker's environmental support initiative is a resounding example of our commitment to environmental 
sustainability. Under this initiative, which has been ongoing for the past five years, we support the Lagos State 
Waste Management Agency with resources for the sweeping of the roads and the green areas and emptying of 
waste bins around our local community.

Case Study 3: “Walk for Life”

The May & Baker Nigeria Plc Annual Walk for Life demonstrates the company's commitment to health and 
societal well-being. The 2023 Walk for Life was held on World Hypertension Day and was aimed at raising 
awareness of hypertension in the local community. Partnering with Ikeja Local Government and the Lagos State 
Ministry of Health, May & Baker conducted a free blood pressure screening exercise for members of the public 
and sensitized the community on preventive measures and care for hypertension, a leading killer disease in 
Nigeria.  
Total Number of employees involved: 364 staff

Staff of the Lagos State Waste Management Agency (LAWMA)
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Case Study 4: Professional Service Award

May & Baker Nigeria Plc actively supports academics and researchers in promoting innovative research in 
the pharmaceutical sciences. In 2023, we recognised outstanding academics in the pharmaceutical sciences at 
the National Conference of the Pharmaceutical Society of Nigeria  through the presentation of the May & 
Baker Professional Service Award in Pharmacy to support research and innovation in solutions to alleviate 
the high disease burden in Nigeria.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

Presentation of the May & Baker Professional Service Award at the 2023 National 
Conference of the Pharmaceutical Society of Nigeria 

CONCLUSION:

May & Baker Nigeria Plc remains steadfast in its commitment to sustainability and responsible corporate 
citizenship. Throughout 2023, we continued to integrate environmental, social, and governance (ESG) 
principles into our business operations, striving for a balance between profitability and societal impact. Our 
efforts in reducing environmental footprint, enhancing community engagement, and upholding ethical 
standards have yielded tangible results, reinforcing our position as a leader in sustainable business practices 
within the pharmaceutical industry in Nigeria. Looking ahead, we remain dedicated to furthering our 
sustainability agenda, embracing innovation, and fostering partnerships to drive positive change for our 
stakeholders and the planet.





Report on Risk Management

In the course of its business activities, May & Baker Nigeria Plc creates opportunities and takes risks, both of which 
are thoroughly weighed and considered. Business success depends on the principle that the risks taken are managed 
and that they are outweighed by the benefits.

For timely identification, evaluation and responsible handling of risks, effective detection management, control and 
audit systems must be in place, which together form May & Baker's Integrated Risk Management System. This 
system has been set to identify issues which could have a significant negative impact on our business. Further, it 
establishes a framework to evaluate and counteract such risks through various control and monitoring mechanisms.

The risks identified within our specific business are market risk, operational risk, legal risk, environmental and 
reputational risk, for which clear structures in terms of areas of responsibility and management are applied.

Market Risk
The business of our Company is dependent on the general economic situation and developments in Nigeria, which is 
an emerging market and also affected by both the macro-economic and global economic situations.  Furthermore, we 
are exposed to political and social risk in the region.

Moreover, growing competition in the pharmaceutical sector, along with the developing legal framework of industry 
specific legislation, ordinances and regulations are risks that must be addressed with special focus.

In order to mitigate these risks we have put in place a strategy that identifies opportunities which are passed through 
the Company's risk assessment and approval system.

Operational Risk
Efficiency, in terms of materials and machinery, logistics and human resources, as well as environmental factors, 
must be identified and assessed. Production controlling means that productions are continuously subjected to a 
thorough commercial and efficiency evaluation. Technical aspects are analyzed separately by experts in each 
respective area. 

Legal & Compliance Risks 
Legal and compliance risks relates to risks arising from the Government statutory or regulatory environmental action 
legal proceedings and compliance with quality and integrity policies and procedures including those relating to 
financial reporting, environmental health and safety. The Company has established an Enterprise Risk Management 
System to ensure that all risks are identified, assessed and mitigated regarding the impact on the business.

Strategy & Risk Management
Strategic risk relates to the future business plans and strategies, including the risks associated with the global macro-
environment in which entities operate; mergers and acquisitions and restructuring activities; intellectual property; 
and other risks, including demand for products and services, competitive threats, technology and product 
innovation, and public policy. 

The Company has a Risk Management Committee that is responsible for assisting the Board to determine the risk 
appetite, profile and risk management framework. 



Certification Pursuant to 

Section 7 (2) of the FRCN Act 2011 

We the undersigned hereby certify with regards to the Annual Report and Financial Statements of May & Baker 
Nigeria Plc and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31st December, 2023  that:

(a) We have reviewed the report;

(b) To the best of our knowledge, the report does not:

     i. contain any untrue statement of a material fact, or
    ii. omit to state a material fact, which would make the statements misleading in the light of the 

circumstances under which such statements were made; 

(c) We have examined the report to ascertain whether or not there were significant changes or other  factors that 
could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our evaluation, including any corrective 
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

(d) We:
i. are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls.
ii. have designed such internal controls to ensure that material information relating to the Company 

including the subsidiaries is made known to such officers and others within those entities 
particularly during the period in which the annual reports are being prepared;

iii. have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's internal controls as of date and within 90 days 
prior to the report;

iv. have presented in the report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the internal controls based on 
our evaluation as of that date;

(e) To the best of our knowledge, the financial statement and other financial information included in the       
report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition and results of operation of the  
Company as at 31st December, 2023  and for the periods presented in the report.

……………………………..    ……………………………..
Managing Director/CEO                         Finance Director

    FRC/2021/003/00000023215                                                 FRC/2014/ICAN/00000008270

      Dated: 26th March 2024                                                          Dated: 26th March 2024
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We are pleased to report that May and Baker Nigeria Plc has completed the management assessment of the 
internal control over financial reporting for the financial year ended December 31, 2023.  

 

Internal control over financial reporting (ICFR) refers to the systems, policies, and procedures implemented by 
an organization to ensure the accuracy, reliability, and integrity of its financial statements. These controls are 
designed to safeguard assets, prevent fraud, and ensure compliance with laws and regulations. They provide 
reasonable assurance that financial information is complete and accurate, allowing stakeholders to make 
informed decisions.  

 

 

 

 

We utilized the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) framework to 
evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This internationally recognized 
framework provides a comprehensive approa ch to assessing internal controls, ensuring reliability and integrity 
in financial reporting processes.  

 

 

 

Our assessment was concluded 90 days before the issuance of our financial report, aligning with regulatory 
requirements and demonstrating our commitment to timely reporting.  

 

 
          

However, because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness in future periods are subject to the 
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate  

 

 

 

 
          

Based on the assessment performed, the management of May and Baker Nigeria Plc is pleased to confirm that 
our assessment shows that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. There were no material 
weaknesses identified as of December 31, 2023.  

 

 

 

          

 

 
 

     

 

 
 

  
 

          

……………………………..     ……………………………..   

Daisy Danjuma (Chairman)     Finance Director/CFO   

FRC/2020/003/00000020890     FRC/2014/ICAN/00000008270   

          

Dated: 28 March 2024    Dated: 28 March 2024  

 

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON THE ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL
 OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING



STATEMENT ON  INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING (ICoFR)
                                                                    

CERTIFICATION
We, Mr Patrick Ajah (The Group Managing Director) and Mr Ayodeji,S. Aboderin (The Group CFO) of May and Baker Nigeria Plc
certify that:

(a) We have reviewed this consolidated financial report for May and Baker Nigeria Plc. 

 

(b) Based on our knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 

were made, not misleading concerning the period covered by this report. 

 
(c) Based on our knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as 
of, and for, the periods presented in this report 

 
(d) We: 

 
1. are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls. 

 
2. have designed such internal controls to ensure that material information relating to the Company including 

the subsidiaries is made known to such officers and others within those entities particularly during the 
period in which the annual reports are being prepared; 

 
3. have designed such internal control system, or caused such internal control system to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes by generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
4. have evaluated the effectiveness of the company's internal controls and procedures as of a date within 90 

days before the report and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the internal 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation. 

 
(e) We have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of the internal control system, to the company's auditors 

and the audit committee of the company's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 

1. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of the internal control system 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 
 

2. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 
role in the company's internal control system. 
 

 

(f) We have identified, in the report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or other facts 
that could significantly affect internal controls after the date of their evaluation including any corrective actions 
about significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

 

Mr. Patrick Ajah
Managing Director/CEO
FRC/2021/003/00000023215
Dated: 28 March 2024

Mr. Aboderin Ayodeji S.
Finance Director
FRC/2014/ICAN/00000008270
Dated: 28 March 2024
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  1. General information

1.1 Description of business

1.2 Basis of preparation

1.2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements comprise:
• Statement of financial position
• Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
• Statement of changes in equity
• Statement of cash flows
• Notes to the financial statements.

1.2.2 Going concern status

1.2.3 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented in accordance with IFRS. 

May & Baker Nigeria Plc. was incorporated as a private limited liability company in Nigeria on

September 4, 1944 and commenced business on the same date. It was listed on the Nigerian

stock exchange in 1994. The company is involved in the manufacture, sale and distribution of

human pharmaceuticals, human vaccines and consumer products. Registered business address is

3/5 Sapara street, Industrial Estate, Ikeja, Lagos, Nigeria.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which

assumes that the entity will be able to meet its financial obligations as at when they fall due. There

are no significant financial obligations that will impact on the entity's resources which will affect the

going concern of the entity. Management is satisfied that the entity has adequate resources to

continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern

basis has been adopted in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The Company maintains the accounting records in accordance with the laws, accounting and

reporting regulations of the jurisdictions in which they are incorporated and registered, namely

Nigeria.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for
the revaluation of Land and fair valuation of financial instruments

1.2.4 Functional and presentation currency

2. Adoption of new and revised standards
2.1  New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Nigeria Naira (NGN), which is the
Company's functional currency. All financial information presented in NGN has been rounded to
the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.

In the current year, the Company has applied several amendments to IFRS Standards and
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are effective for
an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2023. Their adoption has not had any material
impact on the disclosures or the amounts reported in these financial statements. (1). IFRS 7
Insurance contract (2). Amendment to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policy( 3)Amendment to IAS
12. Deferred Tax related to a single transaction



• Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16)

• Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

• Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1)

• Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21)

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts

IFRS 17 outlines a general model, which is modified for insurance contracts with direct
participation features, described as the variable fee approach. The general model is simplified if
certain criteria are met by measuring the liability for remaining coverage using the premium
allocation approach.

Impact of the initial application of Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
In the prior year, the Company adopted the Phase 1 amendments Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform Amendments to IFRS 9/IAS 39 and IFRS 7. These amendments modify specific hedge
accounting requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges during the
period of uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging instruments are amended as a result of
the interest rate benchmark reform.

In the current year, the Company adopted the Phase 2 amendments Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16. Adopting these
amendments enables the Company to reflect the effects of transitioning from interbank offered
rates (IBOR) to alternative benchmark interest rates (also referred to as ’risk free rates’ or RFRs)
without giving rise to accounting impacts that would not provide useful information to users of
financial statements. The Company has not restated the prior period. Instead, the amendments
have been applied retrospectively with any adjustments recognised in the appropriate components
of equity as at 1 January 2023

Both the Phase 1 and Phase 2 the amendments are not relevant to the Company and the Directors 
of the Company assessed that the application of the amendments has an immaterial impact on the
Company's financial statements.

IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.

2.2 New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective (but allow early
application) for the year ending 31 December 2023
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Company has not applied the
following new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not effective

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material
impact on the financial statements of the Company in future periods.

The general model uses current assumptions to estimate the amount, timing and uncertainty of
future cash flows and it explicitly measures the cost of that uncertainty. It takes into account
market interest rates and the impact of policyholders' options and guarantees.
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The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have an impact on the Company's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures — Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments
state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a
business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method, are recognised in the parent's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors'
interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the
remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become an associate or
a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the
former parent's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

The effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by the Board; however, earlier application
of the amendments is permitted.

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have an impact on the Company's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non- current
The amendments to IAS 1 affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or non-current in the
statement of financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition of any asset, liability ,
income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is
unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a
liability , explain that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the
reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to
the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

In June 2021, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 17 to address concerns and implementation
challenges that were identified after IFRS 17 was published. The amendments defer the date of
initial application of IFRS 17 (incorporating the amendments) to annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023. At the same time, the Board issued Extension of the Temporary
Exemption from Applying IFRS 9 (Amendments to IFRS 4) that extends the fixed expiry date of the
temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 in IFRS 4 to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023.
IFRS 17 must be applied retrospectively unless impracticable, in which case the modified
retrospective approach or the fair value approach is applied.

For the purpose of the transition requirements, the date of initial application is the start of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the Standard, and the transition date is the
beginning of the period immediately preceding the date of initial application.
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Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations — Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or
after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early
application is permitted if an entity also applies all other updated references (published together
with the updated Conceptual Framework) at the same time or earlier.

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have an impact on the Company's financial statements.

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced before that asset is available for use, i.e. proceeds while
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Consequently, an entity recognises such sales proceeds and
related costs in profit or loss. The entity measures the cost of those items in accordance with IAS 2
Inventories.

The amendments also clarify the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is functioning properly’. IAS
16 now specifies this as assessing whether the technical and physical performance of the asset is
such that it is capable of being used in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to
others, or for administrative purposes.

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the financial statements
shall disclose the amounts of proceeds and cost included in profit or loss that relate to items
statement of comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds and cost.

The amendments are applied retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant and equipment
that are brought to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the
financial statements in which the entity first applies the amendments

Finally, the amendments add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination. 

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is
unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a
liability , explain that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the
reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to
the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.
The amendments are applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023, with early application permitted.

The Directors of the company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have an impact on the company’s financial statements.

The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the
1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within the scope of
IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition date a present
obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would be within the scope of IFRIC 21
Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a
liability to pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition date.
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Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early
application permitted.

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have an impact on the Company's financial statements. 

The amendments specify that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that relates
directly to the contract. Cost that relates directly to a contract consists of both the incremental cost
of fulfillingthat contract. Examples would be direct labour or materials and allocation of other costs
that relates directly to fulfilling the contract (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments apply to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment's.
Comparatives are not restated. Instead, the entity shall recognize the cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings or other
components of equity, as appropriate, at the date of initial application

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early
application permitted.

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendment in the future
will have an impact on the Company's financial statements.

The amendments apply to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Comparatives are not restated. Instead, the entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings or other
component of equity, as appropriate, at the date of initial application.

The entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as
appropriate) at the beginning of that earliest period presented.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early
application permitted.

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have an impact on the Company's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets — Onerous

Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate
directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract consist of both the incremental costs
of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour or materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).
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The Annual Improvements include amendments to four Standards.

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 16 Leases
The amendment removes the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold improvements. 
As the amendment to IFRS 16 only regards an illustrative example, no effective date is stated.

lAS 41 Agriculture
The amendment removes the requirement in IAS 41 for entities to exclude cash flows for taxation
when measuring fair value. This aligns the fair value measurement in IAS 41 with the requirements
of IFRS 13 Fair value Measurement to use internally consistent cash flows and discount rates and
enables preparers to determine whether to use pretax or post-tax cash flows and discount rates for

the most appropriate fair value measurement.

The amendment is applied prospectively, i.e. for fair value measurements on or after the date an
entity initially applies the amendment.

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with earlier
application permitted.

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have an impact on the Company's financial statements.

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early
application permitted.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 - 2021 — Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time 

Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 

16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment provides additional relief to a subsidiary which becomes a first-time adopter later
than its parent in respect of accounting for cumulative translation differences. As a result of the
amendment, a subsidiary that uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16(a) can now also elect to measure
cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations at the carrying amount that would be
included in the parent's consolidated financial statements, based on the parent's date of transition
to IFRS Standards, if no adjustments were made for consolidation procedures and for the effects
of the business combination in which the parent acquired the subsidiary. A similar election is

available to an associate or joint venture that uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16(a).

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early
application permitted.

The amendment clarifies that in applying the '10 per cent' test to assess whether to derecognise a
financial liability , an entity includes only fees paid or received between the entity (the borrower)
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender on the other's
behalf.
The amendment is applied prospectively to modifications and exchanges that occur on or after the
date the entity first applies the amendment.
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The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 to changes
in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the beginning of
that period, with earlier application permitted.

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have an impact on the Company's financial statements.

The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted. However, the Board retained the
concept of changes in accounting estimates in the Standard with the following clarifications:
- A change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new developments is not

the correction of an error
-

The amendments change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting
policies. The amendments replace all instances of the term ‘significant accounting policies’ with
‘material accounting policy information’. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an entity's financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an accounting
estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the correction of prior
period errors

The Board added two examples (Examples 4-5) to the Guidance on implementing IAS 8, which
accompanies the Standard. The Board has deleted one example (Example 3) as it could cause
confusion in light of the amendments.

The supporting paragraphs in IAS 1 are also amended to clarify that accounting policy information
that relates to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is immaterial and need not be
disclosed. Accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material.

The Board has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application
of the ‘four- step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement 2.

The amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023,
with earlier application permitted and are applied prospectively. The amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 do not contain an effective date or transition requirements..

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have an impact on the Company's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors —
Definition of Accounting Estimates
The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of
accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
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Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes — Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction
The amendments introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption. Under the amendments, 
an entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption for transactions that give rise to equal taxable and 
deductible temporary differences.

Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and deductible temporary differences may arise on initial 
recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit. For example, this may arise upon recognition of a lease liability and the 
corresponding right-of-use asset applying IFRS 16 at the commencement date of a lease.

Following the amendments to IAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the related deferred tax asset and 
liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the recoverability criteria in IAS 12.

The Board also adds an illustrative example to IAS 12 that explains how the amendments are applied.

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period 
presented. In addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period an entity recognises:

- A deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable 
temporary differences associated with:

- Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities;

- Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and the corresponding amounts recognised as part 
of the cost of the related asset.

 
The cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained 
earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at that date.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 , with earlier 
application permitted.

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have an 
impact on the Company's financial statements.

3 Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

3.1 Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are booked in the functional currency of the Group (naira) at the exchange rate 
ruling on the date of transaction. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated into the 
functional currency at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting period. Exchange differences are included in the 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.
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3.1 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the 
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income 
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies used into line with those used by the group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and 
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

3.2 Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each 
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities 
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquire. 
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously-held interests in the acquired 
entity are re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the 
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquire prior 
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 
profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of. 

The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition 
under IFRS 3(2008) are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

• Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19  Employee Benefits 
respectively;

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Noncurrent 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is 
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional 
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that 
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete 
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and is subject to a maximum 
of one year.

3.4  Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for 
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.
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a) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time 
all the following conditions are satisfied: 

I.      the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
II.  the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
III.   the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
IV.    it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group;

and
V.      the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably; 
VI.  the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.

b) Interest income
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by 
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.

3.5  Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised in respect of goods and services received when supplied in accordance with 
contractual terms. Provision is made when an obligation exists for a future liability in respect of a past event 
and where the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. Manufacturing startup costs between 
validation and the achievement of normal production are expensed as incurred. Advertising and promotion 
expenditure is charged to profit or loss as incurred. Shipment costs on inter-company transfers are charged to 
cost of sales; distribution costs on sales to customers are included in distribution expenditure. Restructuring 
costs are recognised and provided for, where appropriate, in respect of the direct expenditure of a business 
reorganisation where the plans are sufficiently detailed and well advanced, and where appropriate 
communication to those affected has been undertaken.

3.6  Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Internally generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred An internally-
generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is 
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:  the technical feasibility of completing 
the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale
• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 

use or sell the intangible asset; and
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development.
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The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no 
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired 
separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). 

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are 
acquired separately. 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised. 

3.7  Right of use assets
3.7.1  IFRS 16 Leases
New standard that introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and 
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee 
is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease 
liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.

A lessee measures right-of-use asset similarly to other non-financial assets (such as property, plant and 
equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities. Therefore, a lessee recognises 
depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of 
the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash 
flows applying IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. 

The company has adopted IFRS 16. However, the company does not have lease liabilities in respect of the 
leased assets to be treated under this new IFRS. The Company made full payment to the lessor; therefore, the 
leased assets has been reclassified to right of use to be amortised for the entire period of the lease.

IFRS 16 contains expanded disclosure requirements for lessees. Lessees will need to apply judgement in 
deciding upon the information to disclose to meet the objective of providing a basis for users of financial 
statements to assess the effect that leases have on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows 
of the lessee.

IFRS 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that will improve information disclosed 
about a lessor's risk exposure, particularly to residual value risk. IFRS 16 supersedes the following Standards 
and Interpretations:
a)          IAS 17 Leases;
b) IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease;
c) SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives; and
d) SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
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3.8 Legal and other dispute
Provision is made for the anticipated settlement costs of legal or other disputes against the Group where an 
outflow of resources is considered probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the likely outcome. In 
addition, provision is made for legal or other expenses arising from claims received or other disputes. In 
respect of product liability claims related to certain products, there is sufficient history of claims made and 
settlements to enable management to make a reliable estimate of the provision required to cover un-asserted 
claims. 

The Group may become involved in legal proceedings, in respect of which it is not possible to make a reliable 
estimate of the expected financial effect, if any, that could result from ultimate resolution of the proceedings. In 
these cases, appropriate disclosure about such cases would be included but no provision would be made. Costs 
associated with claims made by the Group against third parties are charged to profit or loss as they are incurred. 

When the group is virtually certain of receiving reimbursement from a third party ( in the form of insurance, a 
shared liability agreement etc.) to compensate for any lost financial benefit from such disputes, they should 
recognise a receivable as an asset.

3.9 Pensions and other post-employment benefits
Defined contribution scheme
The Group operates a defined contribution based retirement benefit scheme for its staff, In accordance with the 
provisions of the amended Pension Reform Act, 2014 the Company has instituted a Contributory Pension 
Scheme for its employees, where both the employees and the company contribute 8% and 10% of the 
employee total emoluments. The company's contribution under the scheme is charged to the profit and loss 
while employee contributions are funded through payroll deductions.

In addition to the pension scheme, the Company operates a gratuity scheme payable to employees that have 
served a minimum of five years of service. The benefits are calculated based on employees salary for each 
qualifying year. The Company discharges its obligation to employees once payment is made to the fund 
managers.

3.10 Property plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.

The cost of acquisition comprises the acquisition price plus ancillary and subsequent acquisition costs, less 
any reduction received on the acquisition price. The cost of self-constructed property, plant and equipment 
comprises the direct cost of materials, direct manufacturing expenses, and appropriate allocations of material 
and manufacturing overheads. Where an obligation exists to dismantle or remove an asset or restore a site to its 
former condition at the end of its useful life, the present value of the related future payments is capitalized 
along with the cost of acquisition or construction upon completion and a corresponding liability is recognized.
 
If the construction phase of property, plant or equipment extends over a long period, the interest incurred on 
borrowed capital up to the date of completion is capitalized as part of the cost of acquisition or construction in 
accordance with IAS 23 (Borrowing Costs).

Expenses for the repair of property, plant and equipment, such as on-going maintenance costs, are normally 
recognized in profit or loss. The cost of acquisition or construction is capitalized if a repair (such as a complete 
overhaul of technical equipment) will result in future economic benefits. 

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their 
useful lives, using the straight-line method. Freehold land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives, 
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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The following depreciation periods, based on the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, are applied 
throughout the Group:  

Class Useful life 

(range) 

Buildings 50  years 

Plant, machinery and fittings  10  - 5 years 

Office equipment and furniture 10  - 4 years 

Trucks and motor vehicles  8  - 3 years 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss ar ising on the disposal 
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.  

3.11  Financial instruments  

a. Classification and measurement of financial assets  
Financial assets, which include both debt and equity securities are measured at initial recognition at fair 
value, and are classified and subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), fair value  
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or amortised cost. Subsequent classification and 
measurement for debt securities is based on our business model for managing the financial instruments and 
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrume nts. Debt instruments are measured at amortised 
cost if both of the following conditions are met and  
 

b. Business model assessment  
The Group determines the business models at the level that best reflects how portfolios of financial assets 
are managed to achieve the its business objectives. Judgment is used in determining the business models, 
which is supported by relevant, objective evidence including:  
• How the economic activities of the group's businesses generate benefits and how such economic activities 

are evaluated and reported to key management personnel;  
• The significant risks affecting the performance of the group's businesses, for example, market risk, credit 

risk, or other risks and the activities undertaken to manage those risks; and  
• Historical and future expectations of sales of the loans or securities portfolios managed as part of a business 

model. 

3.12 Financial liabilities  

Initial recognition and measurements  
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair  value through profit 
or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate.  
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowi ngs and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.  

3.13 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. An investment with 
a maturity of three months or less is normally classified as being short-term. Cash and cash equivalents form part 
of the company's financial assets.
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3.14 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are stated at fair value and subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, less 
provision for impairment. Impairment thereon are computed using the simplified IFRS 9 Expected Credit 
Loss (ECL) Model, where the receivables are aged and probability of default applied on each aged bracket. 
Trade receivables meet the definition of financial assets and the carrying amount of the trade receivables 
approximates their fair value.
3.15 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their original invoiced value. The Directors consider the carrying amount 
of other payables to approximate their fair value.
3.16 Deferred fair value gain on loans
Deferred fair value gain on loans are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will 
comply with the conditions attached to them and that the gains will be received. Deferred fair value gain on 
loans are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the years in which the Company recognises as 
expenses the related costs for which the gains are intended to compensate. Specifically, deferred fair value 
gain on loans whose primary condition is that the Company should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire 
non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets. 
Deferred fair value gain on loans that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred 
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Company with no future related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they become receivable. The benefit of a deferred fair value 
gain on loans at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a deferred fair value gain on loans, measured as the 
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates. 
The amount recognised as deferred fair value gain on loan is recognised in profit or loss over the year the 
related expenditure is incurred.

3.17 Inventories
In accordance with IAS 2 (Inventories), inventories encompass assets held for sale in the ordinary course of 
business (finished goods and goods purchased for resale), in the process of production for such sale (work in 
process) or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the rendering of 
services (raw materials and supplies). Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The 
net realizable value is the achievable sale proceeds under normal business conditions less estimated cost to 
complete and selling expenses.
Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in-first-out basis. 

3.18 Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
3.18.1 Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in 
the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
3.18.2 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the consolidated and separate and separate financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. For any temporary 
differences arising on business combinations where the Group can control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is not expected to reverse in the near future, the deferred tax asset/liability is not recognised.
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3.18 Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax 
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the 
business combination. 

3.19 Discounting
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, balances are discounted to present values using 
appropriate rates of interest. The unwinding of the discounts is recorded in finance income and finance costs.

3.20 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale and stated at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying value is to be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. The condition of being recovered through sale is only met 
when: "the sale is highly probable, the non-current asset is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition, management is committed to the sale and the sale is expected to qualify for recognition as a 
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.”

3.21 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

3.22 Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the financial statement in the year in which the dividend is approved by 
the shareholders.

3.23 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer.

3.24 Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the year by the number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the year by the fully-diluted 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

4 Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or 
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1 Critical accounting judgement
The following are the critical judgements and estimates that the directors have made in the process of applying 
the Company's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
financial statements.
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4.1.1 Revenue recognition 
In the application of the Group's policy that states that revenues are recognized when significant risks and 
rewards has been transferred to the buyer, Management has ensured that revenues are recognised when 
goods are delivered to Customers. When goods remain in the Company's facility as a result of delayed 
transportation arrangement by the Customer, the Customers are aware based on practice and signed 
contract notes that the risks and reward of such goods remain with them. 

4.1.2 Indefinite useful life of intangible assets 
During the year, the directors reconsidered the recoverability of the Group's intangible asset ( trade mark) 
and assessed if the useful life is still indefinite, the trademark conveys an irrevocable right of use to the 
Company. Management's assessment for recoverability includes active sales from the products, competition 
and current market share of the products, it is believed that the asset is fully recoverable. 

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

4.2.1 Useful life of property, plant and equipment 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted 
if appropriate. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable value.  

The Company reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting 
year.  

4.2.2 Allowance for doubtful receivables 
Judgement is exercised to make allowance for trade receivables doubtful of recovery by reference to the 
financial and other circumstances of the debtor in question. The Group makes provision after considering 
credit terms and historical experience regarding the customers. 

4.2.3 Allowance for obsolete inventory 
Management continuously assesses inventory items for obsolescence based on the standard operating practice 
of the Company. 

4.2.4 Fair valuation of loan 
To obtain the fair value of a loan obtained at below market interest rate, the Group used a valuation technique 
that include inputs that are based on observable market data. Management believes that the key assumptions 
used in the determination of the fair value are appropriate. 
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2022

Thereafter, interest will revert to 9% per annum from 1 September 2022.

2022. Thereafter, interest will revert to 9% per annum from 1 September 2022.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Mr. Kolawole O. Durojaiye



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



Other National Disclosures



STATEMENT OF VALUE ADDED



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY - GROUP



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY - COMPANY



MANAGEMENT INFORMATION



MANAGEMENT INFORMATION



MANAGEMENT INFORMATION



GRAPHS



INCORPORATION AND SHARE CAPITAL HISTORY

Date  Authorised (N)   Cumulative  
 Issued & 
Fully /Paid-up   Cumulative   CASH/BONUS  

  Increase    Increase (N)    

1944                               -                     50,000                         -                      10,000   cash  

1971                   450,000                 500,000                         -                      10,000   

1972                               -                   500,000             340,000                 350,000   Bonus (1for4)+cash  

1973 -                585,000             150,000                 500,000   cash  

1974                               -                   585,000               84,000                 584,000   cash  

1976                1,115,000             1,700,000             584,000              1,168,000   Bonus (1for1)  

1977                1,000,000             2,700,000             584,000              1,752,000   Bonus (1for2)  

1981                               -               2,700,000             873,000              2,625,000   cash  

1984 -            3,500,000             656,250              3,281,250   Bonus (1for4)  

1985                1,500,000             5,000,000         1,640,625              4,921,875   Bonus (1for2)  

1989                5,000,000           10,000,000      2,460,937.5              7,382,813   Bonus (1for2)  

1990             10,000,000           20,000,000         6,328,125           13,710,938   Bonus (1for7)  

1992             30,000,000           50,000,000      1,371,093.5           15,082,031   Bonus (1for10)  

1993                              -             50,000,000      7,540,234.5           22,622,266   cash  

1994                               -             50,000,000       22,623,047           45,245,313   cash  

1996             50,000,000         100,000,000       22,622,891           67,868,204   cash  

2001                               -           100,000,000       18,098,312           90,491,560   Bonus (1for3)  

2004           100,000,000         200,000,000       10,858,988         108,589,875   Bonus (1for5)  

2005           150,000,000         350,000,000     230,551,137         350,000,000   Bonus (1for10)  

2006                               -           350,000,000                         -           350,000,000   cash  

2007           150,000,000         500,000,000                         -           350,000,000   

2008                               -           500,000,000                         -           350,000,000   

2009                               -           500,000,000     140,000,000         490,000,000   

2010           500,000,000     1,000,000,000                         -           490,000,000   Bonus (2for5)  

2011                               -       1,000,000,000                         -           490,000,000   

2012                               -       1,000,000,000                         -           490,000,000   

2013                               -       1,000,000,000                         -           490,000,000   

2014           900,000,000     1,900,000,000                         -           490,000,000   

2015                               -       1,900,000,000                         -           490,000,000   

2016                               -       1,900,000,000                         -           490,000,000   

2017                               -       1,900,000,000                         -           490,000,000   

2018 
                            

1,100,000,000       3,000,000,000                         -           490,000,000   

2019 - 3,000,000,000 -      862,617,443  

2020 - 3,000,000,000 -        862,617,443  

2021 - 3,000,000,000 -     862,617,443  

2022 (1,274,765,114) 1,725,234,886 -     862,617,443 Share cancellation 

2023 - 1,725,234,886     -     862,617,443  

 

The company was incorporated on 4th September, 1994 as a private company under the name, “May & Baker (West 
Africa) Limited” and the company became a public company on 13th May, 1994. 
 
As at 31st December 2023, the company had Authorised share capital of N862,617,443 same as  paid up capital and 
made up of 1,725,234,886 shares units of 50kobo each.  The initial share capital on incorporation and subsequent 
changes therein are as follows:- 





Shareholders who have not received dividend for previous
years are advised to check with Veritas Registrars Limited.

A comprehensive list has been uploaded on the company’s
website and is accessible at www.may-baker.com 

and will also be available at the AGM venue

Plot 89A, Ajose Adeogun Street,
Victoria Island Extension, Lagos.

P. O. Box 75315, Victoria Island, Lagos.
Tel: 2708930-4, 2793873, 2716116.

E-mail: enquiry@veritasregistrars.com
Website: veritasregistrars.com

Unclaimed Dividend



E-DIVIDEND FORM

Dear Shareholder,

We are pleased to advise you of e-dividend payment service which enables direct credit of dividend to your bank
account.

To:

Veritas Registrars Ltd.
Plot 89A, Ajose Adeogun Street,
Victoria Island Extension, Lagos.
P. O. Box 75315, Victoria Island, Lagos.

I/We hereby request that from now on, all my/our dividend warrant(s) due to me(us) from my/our holding(s) in
May & Baker Nigeria Plc to be paid directly to my/our Bank named below

Surname/Company Name

First Name:

Middle Name:

Address:

Mobile No:

E-mail Address:

Vertas Registrars Shareholders Account No:

Bank Name:

Bank Branch:

Account No:

Account Type:

Date:                               20               If Company:

Single Shareholder’s                                                           Authorised Signatories: 1

Signature                                                                                                                   2

Shareholder’s 1                                                     Company Seal:

                        2                                                    Authorised Signatures & Stamp
                                                                              of Bankers:

Kindly note that all fields should be completed

PLEASE TEAR OFF THE FORM AND RETURN TO OUR REGISTRARS AFTER COMPLETION



· Proxy Card 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

To be held at the Muson Centre, Onikan, 
Lagos on Thursday, 6th June, 2024 at 11.00 a.m. 

 
 

I/We ........................................................................ 
 
of ............................................................................ 
being   a   member/members  of   MAY & BAKER 
NIGERIA PLC hereby appoint 
 
.................................................................................  
 
………..................................................................... 
or  failing  him, the Chairman of  the  meeting as 
my/our proxy to act and vote for  me/us  and  on 
my /our   behalf   at   the   Annual   General  
Meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 
6th June, 2024. 
 
Dated …................. day of............................. 2024 
 
Shareholder’s Signature ......................................... 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTES 
 
A shareholder who is unable to attend the Annual General Meeting is entitled by law to vote, on a 
poll by proxy. To be valid for the purpose of the meeting, this form of proxy must be completed, 
signed and deposited at the office of the Registrars, Veritas Registrars Limited, Plot 89 Ajose 
Adeogun Street, Victoria Island Extension, Lagos not later than 48 hours before the time of the 
meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
 
If executed by a corporation the proxy card should be sealed with its common seal.  
 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  
Before posting the above form, please tear off this part and retain it for admission to the meeting. 

Number of shares held 
           RESOLUTIONS            FOR       AGAINST 
To declare a dividend. 
 
To elect Mr. M.C. Odumodu 
  
 

To re-elect Senator D. Danjuma 
 

To re-elect Mr. K.O. Durojaiye 
 
 

To fix the remuneration of  
Directors. 
 
To appoint External Auditors & 
 authorise the Directors to   
fix their remuneration. 
 
To elect members of the   
Audit Committee. 
 

 
Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate square 
how you wish your vote to be cast on the resolutions 
set out above. Unless otherwise instructed the proxy 
will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. 
 
 



ADMISSION FORM 
MAY & BAKER NIGERIA PLC 
 
 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
 
PLEASE ADMIT THE SHAREHOLDER NAMED ON THIS FORM OR HIS DULY APPOINTED PROXY 
TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING TO BE HELD AT THE MUSON CENTRE, ONIKAN, LAGOS 
ON THURSDAY, 6TH JUNE, 2024 AT 11.00 A.M. 
 
Name of Shareholder: 
 
Number of Shares:    Signature of person attending 
 
Note: You are requested to sign this form at the entrance in the presence of the Registrars or their 
nominees on the day of the Annual General Meeting. 
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